ISTAR FINANCIAL INC Form S-4 December 10, 2004

QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 10, 2004

Registration No. 333-

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM S-4

REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

MARYLAND

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

6798

(Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number)

95-6881527

(I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor New York, New York 10036 (212) 930-9400

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant's principal executive offices)

Jay Sugarman Chief Executive Officer 1114 Avenue of the Americas, 27th Floor New York, New York 10036 (212) 930-9400

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

Copies to:

Kathleen L. Werner, Esq. Clifford Chance US LLP 31 West 52nd Street New York, New York 10019 (212) 878-8000 David J. Goldschmidt, Esq. Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP 4 Times Square New York, New York 10036 (212) 735-3000

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public: As soon as practicable after this registration statement becomes effective and all other conditions to the exchange offer pursuant to the registration rights agreement described in the enclosed prospectus have been satisfied or waived.

If the securities being registered on this form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box. o

If this form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

If this form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering.

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title Of Each Class Of Securities To Be Registered	-	Amount To e Registered	Proposed Max Offering Price Note(1)		Proposed M Aggregate (Price(Offering	Amou	unt Of Registration Fee(2)
5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014	\$	100,000,000		100% \$	1	00,000,000	\$	12,67

- (1) Estimated solely for purposes of calculating the registration fee under the Securities Act of 1933.
- (2) Calculated pursuant to Rule 457(f)(2).

The registrant hereby amends this registration statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this registration statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until the registration statement shall become effective on such date as the SEC, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this prospectus may be changed. We may not complete the offer and issue these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and we are not soliciting offers to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED DECEMBER 10, 2004

PROSPECTUS

iStar Financial Inc.

Offer to Exchange iStar Financial Inc. 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014 for Any and All Outstanding TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. 7.70% Notes due 2017 and Solicitation of Consents

Cusip No. 896287 AC3

This Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Will Expire at 12:00 Midnight, New York City Time,
On , 2004, Unless Extended.

Terms of The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation:

We are offering to exchange iStar Financial Inc. 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014, to which we refer in this prospectus as the iStar Notes, for any and all of the outstanding 7.70% Notes due 2017 of our wholly-owned subsidiary, TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc., to which notes we refer in this prospectus as the TriNet Notes, that are validly tendered, not withdrawn and accepted by us. The amount of iStar Notes that you will receive is based on a fixed-spread pricing formula described in this prospectus.

We are concurrently soliciting consents from the holders of the TriNet Notes to amend the indenture governing the TriNet Notes in order to eliminate or waive most of the restrictive covenants and to amend some of the events of default, as described in this prospectus. In order to tender TriNet Notes in the exchange offer, you must also provide your consent to the proposed amendments.

We want to encourage eligible holders to tender early. Accordingly, the exchange price described in this prospectus includes a consent amount of \$20.00 per \$1,000 principal amount. The consent amount is only offered to eligible holders who validly tender their TriNet Notes on or prior to 5:00 pm New York City time on the consent date of , 2004 and do not validly withdraw their tenders on or before that date. If you tender your TriNet Notes after the consent date, the consent amount will be deducted from the exchange price. Holders will not receive any iStar Notes, unless and until we consummate the exchange offer.

To the extent we receive the requisite consents, we expect to enter into a supplemental indenture giving effect to the proposed amendments on the consent date, and thereafter you will not be permitted to withdraw the TriNet Notes you tender. We will make a public announcement, by press release, on the business day following the execution of the supplemental indenture. If you tender TriNet Notes after the consent date, you may withdraw them at any time prior to the expiration of the exchange offer and consent solicitation. If you revoke your consent, you will be deemed to have also withdrawn all notes you have tendered.

If you do not exchange your TriNet Notes and the proposed amendments and waivers are adopted, you will continue to hold those notes, but most of the restrictive covenants will be eliminated or waived and some of the events of default in the indenture governing the TriNet Notes will be modified.

Our obligation to exchange iStar Notes for TriNet Notes is subject to the satisfaction of several conditions, including, but not limited to, receipt of tenders from holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes.

The iStar Notes:

Obligor: iStar Financial Inc., the parent company of TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc.

Maturity Date: March 1, 2014.

Interest Rate: 5.70% per year, payable semi-annually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning March 1, 2005. Interest on the iStar Notes issued in the exchange offer will accrue from and including September 1, 2004.

Outstanding Amount: The iStar Notes to be issued under this prospectus will form part of an existing series of our oustanding debt securities and are expected to be fungible and trade interchangeably with those previously issued securities. Immediately prior to the consummation of the exchange offer, there will be \$250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of iStar Notes outstanding.

Ratings: The iStar Notes have investment grade ratings of Baa3, BBB- and BBB- by Moody's Investors Service, Standard & Poors and Fitch Ratings, respectively. The TriNet Notes have below-investment grade ratings of Ba1 and BB+ by Moody's Investors Service and Standard & Poors, respectively, and are rated BBB- by Fitch Ratings.

Ranking: The iStar Notes will be our unsecured senior obligations, rankpari passu in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness and will rank senior in right of payment to all of our existing and future subordinated indebtedness, if any.

We encourage you to consider carefully the "Risk Factors" beginning on page 12 of this prospectus in evaluating the exchange offer and consent solicitation.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or the accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The Dealer Manager for the Exchange Offer and Solicitation Agent for the Consent Solicitation is:

Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

December , 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Questions and Answers About the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation	1
Prospectus Summary	6
Risk Factors	12
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges	18
Description of Other Indebtedness	19
Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation	22
Description of the iStar Notes	34
Proposed Amendments to TriNet Notes	59
Comparison of TriNet Notes to iStar Notes	63
TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc.	63
Book Entry, Delivery and Form	64
Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences	67
Legal Matters	74
Experts	74
Incorporation of Certain Documents By Reference	74
i	

Creative Capital Solutions and the iStar Financial logo are registered trade marks of iStar Financial Inc.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make statements in this prospectus and the documents we incorporate by reference that are considered "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which are usually identified by the use of words such as "will," "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "projects," "plans," "intends," "should" or similar expressions. We intend these forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and are including this statement for purposes of complying with those safe harbor provisions. These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about our plans, strategies and prospects, which are based on the information currently available to us and on assumptions we have made. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and expectations as reflected in or suggested by those forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that the plans, intentions or expectations will be achieved. We have discussed in this prospectus some important risks, uncertainties and contingencies which could cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from the forward-looking statements we make in these documents.

We assume no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. In evaluating forward-looking statements, you should consider these risks and uncertainties, together with the other risks described from time to time in our reports and documents filed with the SEC, and you should not place undue reliance on those statements.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND CONSENT SOLICITATION

Q: What is the proposed transaction?

A: We are offering to exchange our iStar Financial Inc. 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014, or the iStar Notes, for all of the outstanding TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. 7.70% Notes due 2017, or the TriNet Notes. We are also soliciting consents to amend the indenture governing the TriNet Notes in order to eliminate or waive most of the restrictive covenants and to amend some of the events of default governing the TriNet Notes. Holders that participate in this exchange offer will be bound by the covenants of the iStar Notes. (See "Proposed Amendments to the TriNet Notes" and "Description of the iStar Notes.")

Q: What will I receive in this exchange offer and consent solicitation if I tender my TriNet Notes?

A: For each \$1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes tendered, holders will receive iStar Notes in an amount equal to \$1,000 multiplied by the exchange ratio and rounded down to the nearest \$1,000 principal amount. The amount rounded down which is less than \$1,000 will be paid to holders as residual cash. The exchange ratio will be calculated by determining the exchange price for the TriNet Notes on , 2004 and dividing it by the new issue price for the iStar Notes as of that same date. In calculating these values, we will be determining the discounted value of the remaining payments of principal and interest on the TriNet Notes and iStar Notes using discount rates determined by reference to a benchmark U.S. Treasury Security, and adding pre-determined fixed spreads for the TriNet Notes and the iStar Notes. The values for each set of notes will also include accrued and unpaid interest up to, but not including, the settlement date. If you tender your TriNet Notes on or before the consent date of , 2004 and do not validly withdraw your TriNet Notes prior to the consent date, the exchange price will also include the consent amount. If you tender your TriNet Notes after the consent date and do not withdraw them prior to the expiration date of the exchange offer the exchange price will be reduced by \$20.00 per \$1,000 principal amount which represents the consent amount.

For a complete description of the calculation of the exchange ratio, see "Prospectus Summary The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation."

Q: Will I receive a payment for accrued and unpaid interest on the TriNet Notes? Will I have to make a payment in respect of accrued and unpaid interest on the iStar Notes?

A: No. Since the exchange ratio calculation takes into account accrued interest on both the TriNet Notes and the iStar Notes, we will not make any cash payment to you in respect of accrued interest on the TriNet Notes surrendered for exchange, nor will any holder of TriNet Notes be required to make any cash payment to us in respect of accrued interest on the iStar Notes issued in the exchange offer. Interest on the iStar Notes will accrue from, and including, September 1, 2004, the most recent interest payment date on the iStar Notes.

Q: Why are we proposing this transaction?

A: TriNet is only required to file reports due to the filing requirement in the indenture. These reporting obligations are becoming increasingly burdensome and costly. We are seeking to consolidate all of our securities laws reporting obligations at iStar Financial. We are also considering simplifying our corporate structure by consolidating TriNet into iStar through a merger, liquidation or other appropriate method. The exchange offer and proposed indenture amendments will facilitate these objectives. TriNet also intends to solicit consents from holders of its 7.95% Notes due 2006, which is TriNet's only other outstanding series of debt securities, to amend the restrictive covenants and events of default in those securities, which are substantially similar to those in the TriNet Notes, to allow us to consolidate our reporting obligations and to facilitate a consolidation of TriNet with iStar. The

successful completion of that consent solicitation is not a condition to the consummation of this exchange offer and consent solicitation. See "Prospectus Summary Recent Developments."

Q: What are the benefits to me of this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: We believe that holders of the TriNet Notes may prefer to exchange their notes for debt securities of an entity with higher credit ratings, a more attractive capitalization, significantly greater assets and access to external sources of capital. In the exchange offer, we expect that you will receive a principal amount of iStar Notes greater than the principal amount of TriNet Notes you surrender. The iStar Notes currently have investment grade ratings from Moody's Investors Service and Standard & Poors, while the TriNet Notes are non-recourse to iStar Financial Inc., are rated below investment grade by these agencies and are rated investment grade only by Fitch Ratings. In addition, there will be \$250 million of iStar Notes outstanding prior to the consummation of the exchange offer, which should provide holders of TriNet Notes with greater liquidity subsequent to the consummation of the exchange offer and consent solicitation.

Q: What are the risks to me if I tender my TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: There are a number of risks if you tender TriNet Notes in the exchange offer and consent solicitation, including, among others:

you may not receive payment on the iStar Notes because we will continue to have substantial indebtedness, and we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows;

the iStar Notes are, similarly to the TriNet Notes, structurally subordinated to the debt of the issuer's subsidiaries; at September 30, 2004, iStar's subsidiary debt was \$2.1 billion (including \$0.2 billion of debt of TriNet and its subsidiaries), whereas TriNet's subsidiary debt was \$104.1 million; and

we may be unable to purchase the iStar Notes upon a change of control because we may have insufficient funds.

For a discussion of these and other risks, see "Risk Factors Risks Related to the iStar Notes."

Q: What are the risks to me if a majority of the TriNet Notes are tendered but I do not tender my TriNet Notes?

A: If you do not tender your TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and consent solicitation and the proposed amendments are adopted, you will continue to hold those notes, but most of the restrictive covenants will be eliminated or waived and some of the events of default in the indenture governing the TriNet Notes will be modified. The modification of the restrictive covenants and other provisions could permit us to cause TriNet to take actions that could be adverse to the holders. Moreover, if we receive tenders from holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes, less than \$50.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes will remain outstanding after the completion of this exchange offer and consent solicitation. The ability to sell any of the TriNet Notes that remain outstanding after the exchange offer and consent solicitation could, therefore, be limited.

Q: What are the consequences if the exchange offer and consent solicitation are not consummated?

A: If we are unable to consummate the exchange offer and consent solicitation, then the TriNet Notes will remain outstanding as obligations of TriNet and TriNet will continue to be subject to the covenants and other terms governing the TriNet Notes.

Q: When does the exchange offer and consent solicitation expire?

A: Unless we extend this exchange offer and consent solicitation, it will expire at 12:00 midnight, New York City time, on []. We do not currently intend to extend the expiration date of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, though we may do so at any time in our sole discretion.

Q: Under what circumstances can this exchange offer and consent solicitation be extended?

A: We expressly reserve the right, at any time or from time to time, to extend the period of time during which this exchange offer and consent solicitation is open.

Q: How will I be notified if this exchange offer and consent solicitation is extended?

A: If we decide to extend the exchange offer and consent solicitation, we will notify the exchange agent of any extension. We also will issue a press release or make another form of public announcement of the extension no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the first business day after the previously scheduled expiration date.

Q: What are the conditions to this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: This exchange offer and consent solicitation is conditioned on, among other things, our receiving tenders from holders of a majority of the principal amount outstanding of the TriNet Notes. For more information regarding the conditions to this exchange offer and consent solicitation, please see the section of this prospectus entitled "The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Conditions to this Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation."

Q: May I tender a portion of the TriNet Notes that I hold?

A: Yes. You do not have to tender all of the TriNet Notes that you hold in order to participate in this exchange offer and consent solicitation. However, the consummation of this exchange offer and consent solicitation is conditioned upon our receiving tenders of a majority of the principal amount of the TriNet Notes, unless we waive that condition.

Q: May I tender the TriNet Notes that I hold without consenting to the proposed amendments?

A: No. If you tender your TriNet Notes in the exchange offer and consent solicitation, you will automatically consent to the proposed amendments to the indenture governing those TriNet Notes. The provisions of the indenture that we are proposing to amend may be amended with the consent of holders of at least a majority of the principal amount of notes outstanding under the indenture.

Q: Will my rights as a holder of TriNet Notes change if I tender my TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: Yes. Currently, your rights as a holder of TriNet Notes are governed by the indenture under which those notes were issued. If you exchange your TriNet Notes for iStar Notes, your rights as a holder of iStar Notes will be governed by a new indenture under which the iStar Notes will be issued, the terms of which are described in this prospectus under "Description of the iStar Notes."

Q: What are the tax consequences of my participation in this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: If you tender your TriNet Notes on or before the consent date of , 2004, and do not validly withdraw your TriNet Notes prior to the consent date (an "early consenting holder"), we believe that your exchange of TriNet Notes for iStar Notes should not result in a deemed exchange under Section 1001 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or Code, because based on all the facts and circumstances, the terms of the iStar Notes will not result in an alteration of the legal rights and obligations of the early consenting holders in a manner or to a degree that is economically significant or would be treated as a "significant" modification for the U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, an early consenting holder should not recognize any gain or loss for U.S. federal income

tax purposes, and such holder should continue to have the same adjusted tax basis and holding period in the New Notes after such modifications as it had in the TriNet Notes prior to such modifications.

If you tender your TriNet Notes, but are not an early consenting holder (a "late consenting holder"), we believe that your exchange should be treated as a deemed exchange under Section 1001 that will qualify as a recapitalization under Section 368(a)(1)(E) of the Code, and, as a result, you may recognize gain (but not loss) in the exchange, which gain will be limited to the lesser of: (i) the fair market value of the excess of the principal amount of the iStar Notes over the TriNet Notes (the "excess principal amount"); and (ii) the late consenting holder's gain realized on the exchange determined by comparing the value of all property (including the excess principal amount) received by the late consenting holder with the late consenting holder's adjusted tax basis in the TriNet Notes. However, you are urged to consult your own tax advisor as to the consequences to you of participating in the exchange offer and consent solicitation. For more information, see "Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences."

Q: What are the tax consequences to me if I do not tender my TriNet Notes in this exchange and consent solicitation?

A: We believe that you should recognize no gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes if you do not tender your TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and consent solicitation. However, you are urged to consult your own tax advisor. For more information, see "Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences."

Q: Has the board of directors of iStar Financial Inc. or any other party recommended that I tender the TriNet Notes that I hold under this exchange offer and consent solicitation?

A: No. None of our boards of directors, the dealer manager, the information agent or the exchange agent expresses any opinion, and each is remaining neutral, regarding any recommendation to you whether or not to tender the TriNet Notes that you hold under this exchange offer and consent solicitation because the risks and benefits of the exchange offer and consent solicitation to you will depend on your particular situation or status. In addition, we have not authorized anyone to make a recommendation regarding this exchange offer and consent solicitation.

Q: If I tender the TriNet Notes that I hold and consent to the proposed amendments, will I be able to revoke this decision if I later change my mind?

A: To the extent we receive the requisite consents, we expect to enter into a supplemental indenture giving effect to the proposed amendments on the consent date, and thereafter you will not be permitted to withdraw the TriNet Notes you tender. We will issue a press release on the business day following the execution of the supplemental indenture. If you tender TriNet Notes after the consent date, you may validly withdraw them prior to 12:00 midnight New York City time on the expiration date. You may not revoke your consent unless you also withdraw your tender, and if you revoke your consent, you will be deemed to have also withdrawn the notes you have tendered.

For a withdrawal to be effective:

if you hold your TriNet Notes through DTC, you must comply with the appropriate procedures of DTC's automated program; or

if you do not hold your TriNet Notes through DTC, you must send written notice of withdrawal to the exchange agent at its address on the back cover of this prospectus.

For additional information regarding a withdrawal of notes that you have already tendered in this exchange offer and consent solicitation, please see the section of this prospectus entitled "The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation" Withdrawals of Tenders and Revocation of Consents."

Q: How do I exchange the TriNet Notes that I hold?

A: If you wish to exchange your TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and consent solicitation, you must comply with one of the following procedures:

if you hold your position through DTC, provide a timely confirmation of a book-entry transfer of your notes into the account of the exchange agent;

if you hold your position through a broker dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, you must contact the holder of record promptly and instruct the holder of record to tender your notes on your behalf of DTC, plus either (1) a properly completed and executed consent and letter of transmittal, or (2) an agent's message in the case of a book-entry transfer; or

if you do not hold your position through DTC, certificates for your notes must be received by the exchange agent along with a properly completed and duly executed consent and letter of transmittal (or a manually signed facsimile of the consent and letter of transmittal), including any required signature guarantees.

For additional information regarding the tender of your notes, please see the section of this prospectus entitled "The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Procedures for Tendering Notes."

Q: Who can help answer my questions?

A: If you have any questions about the exchange offer and consent solicitation, you should contact:

The Dealer Manager for the Exchange Offer and Solicitation Agent for the Consent Solicitation is:

Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

Global Liability Management Group 383 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor New York, New York 10179 (877) 696-BEAR (toll free) (877) 696-2327

If you need additional copies of this prospectus, you should contact:

The Information Agent for the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation is:

Georgeson Shareholder

17 State Street-10th Floor New York, NY 10004 Banks and Brokers Call 212.440.9800 All others call Toll-Free 1.866.873.6993

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary may not contain all the information that may be important to you. You should read the entire prospectus, as well as the documents incorporated by reference in it, before making a decision to participate in the exchange offer and consent solicitation. All references to "we" or "us" in this prospectus refer to iStar Financial Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise.

iStar Financial Inc.

We are the leading publicly-traded finance company focused exclusively on the commercial real estate industry. We provide custom-tailored financing to high-end private and corporate owners of real estate nationwide, including senior and junior mortgage debt, senior and mezzanine corporate capital, and corporate net lease financing. Our objective is to generate consistent and attractive returns on our invested capital by providing innovative and value-added financing solutions to our customers. We deliver customized financial products and "one-call" responsiveness post-closing to sophisticated real estate borrowers and corporate customers who require a high level of creativity and service. Our ability to provide value-added financial solutions has consistently enabled us to realize margins and returns on capital that are more attractive than those earned by many other commercial finance companies.

We began our business in 1993 through private investment funds formed to take advantage of the lack of well-capitalized lenders capable of servicing the needs of high-end customers in our markets. During our eleven-year history, we have structured or originated \$11.6 billion of financing commitments.

By capitalizing on our competitive strengths, we have delivered consistent financial performance, developed a high-quality, diversified asset base and established ourselves as a reliable provider of financial solutions for our customers.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1114 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036, and our telephone number is (212) 930-9400. Our website is *www.istarfinancial.com*. The information on our website is not considered part of this prospectus. Our five primary regional offices are located in Atlanta, Boston, Dallas, Hartford and San Francisco. iStar Asset Services, our loan servicing subsidiary, is located in Hartford, and iStar Real Estate Services, our corporate facilities management division, is headquartered in Atlanta.

Recent Developments

Consent Solicitation for TriNet's 2006 Notes

TriNet also intends to solicit consents of holders of its \$50.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.95% Notes due 2006 to amend the restrictive covenants in those notes and events of default in order to facilitate a merger or consolidation of TriNet into iStar. The 7.95% Notes due 2006 are TriNet's only series of outstanding debt securities, in addition to the TriNet Notes. The 7.95% Notes due 2006 contain restrictive covenants and events of default that are similar to those in the TriNet Notes (subject to the consent solicitation). TriNet will be soliciting consents to conform the covenants and some of the events of default in the 7.95% Notes due 2006 to those in the iStar Notes. The proposed amendments to the 7.95% Notes due 2006 will require the consent of holders of at least a majority of the outstanding aggregate principal amount of those Notes. If TriNet does not receive the requisite consents to amend the 7.95% Notes due 2006 and does not pursue other methods to redeem or retire those Notes, we and TriNet may elect not to proceed with a merger or consolidation. The exchange offer and consent solicitation which are the subject of this prospectus are not conditioned upon either: (1) the success of the consent solicitation with regard to TriNet's 2006 notes; or (2) a merger, consolidation or liquidation involving iStar and TriNet.

Recent Financial Information

iStar has an equity market capitalization, as of December 3, 2004, of \$5.5 billion. iStar's book equity totaled \$2.5 billion at September 30, 2004, compared to TriNet's \$0.7 billion of book equity at September 30, 2004. iStar and TriNet had total assets of \$7.3 billion and \$0.9 billion, respectively, and total debt of \$4.7 billion and \$0.2 billion, respectively, as of September 30, 2004. The weighted average remaining lease terms of iStar's and TriNet's sale/leaseback assets were 10.5 years and 3.7 years, respectively, at September 30, 2004.

7

The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

Securities Offered	iStar Financial Inc. 5.70% Senior	Notes due 2014.			
Exchange Offer	We are offering to eligible holder the opportunity to exchange, for a aggregate principal amount of the Notes in a principal amount calcu- below.	each \$1,000 e TriNet Notes, iStar			
Consent Solicitation	We are soliciting consents from t Notes to eliminate or waive most covenants and amend certain eve indenture governing the TriNet N TriNet Notes, you will automatic have consented to the proposed a "Proposed Amendments to TriNe	of the restrictive nts of default in the lotes. If you tender ally be deemed to mendments. See			
Determination of the Exchange Price of the TriNet Notes	The exchange price of the TriNet (rounded to the nearest cent): (1) (calculated by the dealer manager market practice by the formula set this prospectus) of the remaining principal and interest on \$1,000 price TriNet Notes through their maturate equal to: (a) the bid-side yiel U.S. Treasury Security listed belobid-side price for the reference U Security, at 2:00 PM, New York on 2004 (the "price extend the expiration date, in whit time will be 2:00 PM, New York second business day prior to the extended) as displayed on the Blo Pricing Monitor Page PX7 (the "oplus (b) the fixed spread listed be your TriNet Notes after the conse withdraw them prior to the expiration of the	the discounted value in accordance with set forth in Annex A to payments of principal amount of sity date at a discount d on the reference ow based on the .S. Treasury City time, cing time," unless we sich case the pricing City time, on the expiration date as so comberg Government quotation report"); clow. If you tender that date, and do not attion of the exchange exchange price for d by \$20.00 per			
CUSIP No.	Note Description	Outstanding Principal Amount	Maturity Date	Reference U.S. Treasury Security	Fixed Spread (in basis points)
896287AC3	TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. 7.70% Senior Notes due 2017	\$ 100,000,000) July 15, 2017	4 ¹ / ₄ % Notes due November 15, 2014	[]
	See "Description of the Exchange		J	:. 	
Determination of the N Issue Price of the iStar Notes	The new issue price of the iStar N cent): (1) the discounted value (ca accordance with market practice l prospectus) of the remaining payr principal amount of iStar Notes th equal to: (a) the bid-side yield on below, based on the bid-side price the pricing time (unless we extend	alculated by the dealer may by the formula set forth in ments of principal and into mrough their maturity date the reference U.S. Treasu e for the reference U.S. Tr	nager in Annex B to this erest on \$1,000 at a discount rate ary Security listed reasury Security at		

pricing time will be 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the second business day prior to the expiration date as so extended) as displayed on the Bloomberg Government Pricing Monitor Page PX7; plus (b) the fixed spread listed below.

8

CUSIP No.	Note Description		Outstanding Principal Amount	Maturity Date	Reference U.S. Treasury Security	Fixo Spre (in ba	ead asis
45031UAH4	iStar 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014	\$	250,000,000	March 1, 2014	4 ¹ / ₄ % Notes due November 15, 2014	[]
	See "Description of the	Exchang	ge Offer Determinati	on of New Issue Pr	ice."		
Exchange Ratio	The exchange ratio is e unpaid interest, divided unpaid interest. For each holders will receive iSt the exchange ratio. Sin \$1,000, we will round \$1,000 principal amount	I by the net he	new issue price, which principal amount of in an amount equal to ar Notes will be issue	n includes accrued a TriNet Notes tende o \$1,000 multiplied ed in denominations	and red, by s of		
	The difference between giving effect to rounding referred to as residual of multiplying the residual The residual cash amount of the exchange offer.	ng and the cash. The ll cash an	e rounded principal an residual cash amount nount by the new issu	mount of iStar Note t will be adjusted by e price divided by	es is y 1,000.		
Consent Amount	The exchange price inc amount. The consent at tender the TriNet Note: not validly withdraw th not receive any iStar N exchange offer is const TriNet Notes after the consummated, an amountation which will be equipprincipal amount, which issue price. See "Description".	mount is son or proper tende otes, inclummated consent dunt of iStall to the characteristics.	only offered to eligible for to the consent date are on or before the couding the consent ame. Eligible holders who hate will receive, if the ar Notes determined be exchange price minustents the consent amou	le holders who vali- e of , 2004 an nsent date. Holders ount, unless and un o validly tender thei e exchange offer is pased on the exchar \$20.00 per \$1,000 nt, divided by the n	dly d do s will ttil the r age		
Accrued Interest on the iStar and TriNet Notes	Since the exchange rational the iStar Notes, we interest on the TriNet Notes are required to make an in the exchange offer of on the iStar Notes will most recent interest page.	will not Notes exc y cash pa n the iSta accrue fr	make any cash payment hanged, nor will any syment in respect of a ar Notes issued in the om, and including, Se	ent in respect of acc holder of TriNet No ccrued interest rece exchange offer. Int	crued otes cived erest		
Pricing Time	The pricing time will b unless the expiration da [] pm, New York expiration date as so ex	ate is exte City time	pm, New York City t ended, in which case t on the second busine	the pricing time wil], I be		
Information	Any questions concern to the Global Liability (877) 696-BEAR or (8 release, the exchange p the iStar Notes prompt	Managen 77) 696-2 rice for t	nent Group at Bear St 2327. We will publicly he TriNet Notes and t	earns at y announce, by pres he new issue price	ss for		

	You can obtain recently calculated hypothetical quotes of the yield of the reference U.S. Treasury Security, the exchange offer yield and the exchange price for the TriNet Notes prior to the pricing time, and can obtain the yield on the reference U.S. Treasury Security, the exchange offer yield and the new issue price for the iStar Notes prior to the pricing time, by contacting the Global Liability Management Group at Bear Stearns (877) 696-BEAR or (877) 696-2327.
	Questions concerning tender procedures and requests for additional copies of this prospectus should be directed to the information agent at its address or telephone numbers listed on the back cover page of this prospectus.
Consent Date	The consent date will be 5:00 P.M., New York City time, on [], unless extended or earlier terminated by us.
Expiration Date	The expiration date of the exchange offer and consent solicitation will be 12:00 midnight, New York City time, on [], unless we extend it.
Settlement Date	Expected to be three business days subsequent to the expiration date.
Conditions to the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation	Our obligation to exchange TriNet Notes for iStar Notes pursuant to the exchange offer and consent solicitation is subject to the satisfaction of several conditions including, but not limited to receipt of tenders from holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the iStar Notes.
	See "The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Conditions to the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation" for a more complete description of the conditions to the exchange offer and consent solicitation.
Withdrawal Rights and Revocation of Consents	To the extent we receive the requisite consents, we expect to enter into a supplemental indenture giving effect to the proposed amendments on the consent date, and thereafter you will not be permitted to withdraw the TriNet Notes you tender. We will issue a press release on the business day following the execution of the supplemental indenture. If you tender your TriNet Notes after the consent date, you may validly withdraw them at any time prior to the expiration of the tender offer and consent solicitation. Once you revoke your consents, you automatically will be deemed to have withdrawn your tender of TriNet Notes. If we decide for any reason not to accept any notes you have tendered for exchange, those notes will be returned to you without cost promptly after the expiration or termination of the exchange offer and consent solicitation. See "The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation Withdrawal Rights and Revocation of Consents" for a more complete description of the tender and withdrawal provisions.

Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences	For a discussion of anticipated significant U.S. federal income tax consequences associated with the exchange of (and the failure to exchange) TriNet Notes for iStar Notes issued in the exchange offer and consent solicitation and the ownership and disposition of those iStar Notes see "Certain Federal Income Tax Consequences." You should consult your own tax advisor as to the consequences to you of the exchange or failure to participate in the exchange offer and
	or failure to participate in the exchange offer and consent solicitation.
	consent solicitation.
Use of Proceeds	We will not receive any cash proceeds from the exchange offer and consent solicitation.
Exchange Agent	Computershare Trust Company of New York.
Dealer Manager	Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.
Information Agent	Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc.

Summary Description of the iStar Notes

Issuer	iStar Financial Inc.
Securities Offered	Series B Senior Notes due 2014.
Existing Outstanding Principal Amount	The iStar Notes being offered in the exchange offer will form part of an existing series of outstanding debt securities and are expected to be fungible and trade interchangeably with those previously issued securities under the same CUSIP number. Immediately prior to the consummation of the exchange offer, there will be \$250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of iStar Notes outstanding.
Maturity	March 1, 2014.
Interest Rate	5.70% per year (calculated using a 360-day year).
Interest Payment Dates	Each March 1 and September 1 beginning on March 1, 2005. Interest will accrue from September 1, 2004.
Ranking	The iStar Notes are our unsecured senior obligations and rank <i>pari passu</i> to our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness and, to the extent we incur subordinated indebtedness in the future, senior to such indebtedness. The iStar Notes will be effectively subordinated to all of our secured indebtedness and all indebtedness of our subsidiaries. As of September 30, 2004, the aggregate amount of our outstanding consolidated indebtedness was \$4.7 billion, of which approximately \$2.1 billion was debt of our subsidiaries (including \$0.2 billion of debt of TriNet and its subsidiaries).
Optional Redemption	The iStar Notes are redeemable prior to their maturity at a make-whole premium.
Change of Control Offer	If a change in control of our Company occurs, we must give holders of the iStar Notes the opportunity to sell us their iStar Notes at 101% of their face amount, plus accrued interest.
Certain Indenture Provisions	The indenture governing the iStar Notes contains covenants limiting our and our subsidiaries' ability to:
	incur indebtedness;
	repurchase equity interests or subordinated indebtedness;
	merge or consolidate with another person; or
	sell, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets.
	These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. In addition, certain of the covenants are not in effect at this time because the iStar Notes are rated investment grade. See "Description of iStar Notes Certain Covenants."
Risk Factors	Investing in the Notes involves substantial risks. See "Risk Factors" in this prospectus for a description of certain of the risks you should consider before accepting iStar Notes in the exchange offer. 11

RISK FACTORS

This section describes some, but not all, of the risks of tendering your notes for exchange in the exchange offer and consent solicitation. You should carefully consider these risks, in addition to the other information contained or incorporated by reference in this document, before tendering your notes for exchange in the exchange offer and consent solicitation. The risk factors set forth below, other than those that discuss the consequences of failing to exchange your outstanding notes in the exchange offer and consent solicitation, are generally applicable to both the TriNet Notes and the iStar Notes issued in the exchange offer and consent solicitation. In connection with the forward-looking statements that appear in this document, you should carefully review the factors discussed below and the cautionary statements referred to in "Forward-Looking Statements."

Risks Relating to the Exchange Offer

Consequences of Failure to Exchange

If you fail to tender any of your TriNet Notes, we may not be able to complete the exchange offer and consent solicitation. If we are unable to complete the exchange offer and consent solicitation, the TriNet Notes will remain outstanding as obligations of TriNet and TriNet will continue to comply with the indenture governing the TriNet Notes.

If we do complete the exchange offer and consent solicitation, most of the restrictive covenants under the indenture for the TriNet Notes will be eliminated or waived. Therefore, if you fail to tender any of your TriNet Notes, your TriNet Notes will lose the protection of these restrictive covenants. The modification of the restrictive covenants and other provisions could permit us to cause TriNet to take actions that could be adverse to the holders. Moreover, if we receive tenders from holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes, less than \$50.0 million in aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes will remain outstanding after the completion of this exchange offer and consent solicitation. The ability to sell any of the TriNet Notes that remain outstanding after the exchange offer and consent solicitation could, therefore, be limited.

The consummation of the exchange offer may not occur.

We are not obligated to complete the exchange offer unless the conditions described herein are met or waived. Even if the exchange offer is completed, it may not be completed on the schedule described in this prospectus. Accordingly, holders participating in the exchange offer may have to wait longer than expected to receive their iStar Notes, during which time those holders of TriNet Notes will not be able to effect transfers of their TriNet Notes tendered in the exchange offer.

The consideration to be received in the exchange offer does not reflect any valuation of the TriNet Notes or the iStar Notes and is subject to market volatility.

Our board of directors has made no determination that the consideration to be received in the exchange offer represents a fair valuation of either the TriNet Notes or the iStar Notes. We have not obtained a fairness opinion from any financial advisor about the fairness to us or to you of the consideration to be received by holders of TriNet Notes. In addition, the exchange ratio for the TriNet Notes is based on a fixed spread and is dependent upon the yield of the reference U.S. Treasury Security listed on page 24 of this prospectus at the pricing time. This yield, and therefore the exchange ratio, may fluctuate significantly from the date of this prospectus to the pricing time.

Risks Related to the iStar Notes

We Have Other Indebtedness

As of September 30, 2004, our outstanding debt was approximately \$4.7 billion. Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal or interest on, or to refinance, our indebtedness depends on our

future performance, which, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control.

The Notes Will Be Structurally Subordinated to Subsidiary Debt

The Notes are not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. Our subsidiaries hold a substantial portion of our assets. Our subsidiaries had approximately \$2.1 billion of indebtedness outstanding at September 30, 2004. Creditors of a subsidiary are entitled to be paid what is due to them before assets of the subsidiary become available for creditors of its parent.

Our Ability to Repurchase Notes Upon Change of Control May Be Limited

Upon a change of control, each holder of Notes will have the right to require us to repurchase the holder's Notes. If there were a change of control, but we did not have sufficient funds to pay the repurchase price for all of the iStar Notes which were tendered, that failure would constitute an event of default under the indenture. Therefore, a change of control at a time when we could not pay for iStar Notes which were tendered as a result of the change of control could result in holders of Notes receiving substantially less than the principal amount of the iStar Notes.

As a REIT, We Must Distribute a Portion of Our Income to Our Stockholders and We Have Substantial Additional Capacity to Make Restricted Payments

We generally must distribute annually at least 90% of our taxable income to our stockholders to maintain our REIT status. As a result, those earnings will not be available to pay principal on the iStar Notes. Our taxable income has historically been lower than the cash flow generated by our business activities, primarily because our taxable income is reduced by non-cash expenses, such as depreciation and amortization. As a result, our dividend payout ratio as a percentage of free cash flow has generally been lower than our payout ratio as a percentage of taxable income. However, certain of our credit facilities permit us to distribute up to 95% of our adjusted earnings.

We Are Subject to Risks Relating to Our Lending Business.

We may suffer a loss if a borrower defaults on a non-recourse loan or on a loan that is not secured by underlying real estate. In the event of a default by a borrower on a non-recourse loan, we will only have recourse to the real estate assets securing the loan. For this purpose, we consider loans made to special purpose entities formed solely for the purpose of holding and financing particular assets to be non-recourse loans. If the underlying asset value is below the loan amount, we will suffer a loss. Conversely, we sometimes make loan investments that are unsecured or are secured by equity interests in the borrowing entities. These loans are subject to the risk that other lenders may be directly secured by the real estate assets of the borrower. In the event of a default, those secured lenders would have priority over us with respect to the proceeds of a sale of the underlying real estate.

In the cases described above, we may lack control over the underlying asset securing our loan or the underlying assets of the borrower prior to a default, and, as a result, their value may be reduced by acts or omissions by owners or managers of the assets. As of September 30, 2004, 79.1% of our loans are non-recourse, based upon the gross carrying value of our loan assets, and 12.6% of our total investments, based on gross carrying value, consist of loans that are unsecured or secured by equity interests in the borrowing entity.

We may suffer a loss in the event of a default or bankruptcy of a borrower, particularly in cases where the borrower has incurred debt that is senior to our loan. If a borrower defaults on our loan but does not have sufficient assets to satisfy our loan, we may suffer a loss of principal or interest. In the event of a borrower bankruptcy, we may not have full recourse to the assets of the borrower, or the assets of the borrower may not be sufficient to satisfy our loan. In addition, certain of our loans are subordinate to other debt of the borrower. If a borrower defaults on our loan or on debt senior to our loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, our loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt. Where debt senior

to our loans exists, the presence of intercreditor arrangements may limit our ability to amend our loan documents, assign our loans, accept prepayments, exercise our remedies (through "standstill" periods) and control decisions made in bankruptcy proceedings relating to borrowers. Bankruptcy and borrower litigation can significantly increase the time needed for us to acquire underlying collateral in the event of a default, during which time the collateral may decline in value. In addition, there are significant costs and delays associated with the foreclosure process.

We are subject to the risk that provisions of our loan agreements may be unenforceable. Our rights and obligations with respect to our loans are governed by written loan agreements and related documentation. It is possible that a court could determine that one or more provisions of a loan agreement are unenforceable, such as a loan prepayment provision or the provisions governing our security interest in the underlying collateral. If this were to happen with respect to a material asset or group of assets, we could be adversely affected.

We are subject to the risks associated with loan participations, such as less than full control rights. Some of our assets are participating interests in loans in which we share the rights, obligations and benefits of the loan with other participating lenders. We may need the consent of these parties to exercise our rights under such loans, including rights with respect to amendment of loan documentation, enforcement proceedings in the event of a default and the institution of, and control over, foreclosure proceedings. Similarly, a majority of the participants may be able to take actions to which we object but to which we will be bound if our participation interest represents a minority interest. We may be adversely affected by this lack of full control.

We Are Subject to Risks Relating to Our Corporate Tenant Lease Business.

Lease expirations, lease defaults and lease terminations may adversely affect our revenue. Lease expirations, lease defaults and lease terminations may result in reduced revenues if the lease payments received from replacement corporate tenants are less than the lease payments received from the expiring, defaulting or terminating corporate tenants. In addition, lease defaults by one or more significant corporate tenants, lease terminations by corporate tenants following events of casualty or takings by eminent domain, or the failure of corporate tenants under expiring leases to elect to renew their leases, could cause us to experience long periods with no revenue from a facility and to incur substantial capital expenditures in order to obtain replacement corporate tenants.

For the quarter ended September 30, 2004, 13.9% of our annualized total revenues were derived from our five largest corporate tenant customers. As of September 30, 2004, the percentage of our revenues (based on total revenues for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, annualized) that are subject to expiring leases during each year from 2004 through 2008 is as follows:

2004	1.7%
2005	0.7%
2006	4.4%
2007	2.2%
2008	1.7%

We may need to make significant capital improvements to our corporate facilities in order to remain competitive. Our corporate facilities may face competition from newer, more updated facilities. In order to remain competitive, we may need to make significant capital improvements to our existing corporate facilities. In addition, in the event we need to re-lease a corporate facility, we may need to make significant tenant improvements, including conversions of single tenant buildings to multi-tenant buildings. The costs of these improvements could adversely affect our financial performance.

Our ownership interests in corporate facilities are illiquid, hindering our ability to mitigate a loss. Since our ownership interests in corporate facilities are illiquid, we may lack the necessary flexibility to vary our investment strategy promptly to respond to changes in market conditions. In addition, if we

have to foreclose on an asset or if we desire to sell it in an effort to recover or mitigate a loss, we may be unable to do so at all, or only at a discount.

We Are Subject to Risks Relating to Our Asset Concentration.

As of September 30, 2004, the average size of our lending investments was \$33.1 million and the average size of our leasing investments was \$27.7 million. No single investment represented more than 4.0% of our total revenues for the quarter ended September 30, 2004. While our asset base is diversified by product line, asset type, obligor, property type and geographic location, it is possible that if we suffer losses on a portion of our larger assets, our financial performance could be adversely impacted.

We Are Subject to Risks in Our Business

Because We Must Distribute a Portion of Our Income, We Will Continue to Need Additional Debt and/or Equity Capital to Grow.

We must distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to our stockholders to maintain our REIT status. As a result, those earnings will not be available to fund investment activities. We have historically funded our investments by borrowing from financial institutions and raising capital in the public and private capital markets. We expect to continue to fund our investments this way. If we fail to obtain funds from these sources, it could limit our ability to grow, which could have a material adverse effect on the value of our common stock and/or our ability to pay interest and principal on the iStar Notes.

Our Growth Is Dependent on Leverage, Which May Create Other Risks.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon our ability to grow our assets through the use of leverage. Our ability to obtain the leverage necessary for execution of our business plan will ultimately depend upon our ability to maintain interest coverage ratios meeting market underwriting standards that will vary according to lenders' assessments of our creditworthiness and the terms of the borrowings. As of September 30, 2004, our debt to book equity plus accumulated depreciation and loan loss reserves ratio was 1.7x and our total debt obligations outstanding were approximately \$4.7 billion. Our charter does not limit the amount of indebtedness which we may incur. Our Board of Directors has overall responsibility for our financing strategy. Stockholder approval is not required for changes to our financing strategy. If our Board of Directors decided to increase our leverage, it could lead to reduced or negative cash flow and reduced liquidity.

The percentage of leverage used will vary depending on our estimate of the stability of iStar Financial's cash flow. To the extent that changes in market conditions cause the cost of such financing to increase relative to the income that can be derived from the assets originated, we may reduce the amount of our leverage.

Leverage creates an opportunity for increased net income, but at the same time creates risks. For example, leveraging magnifies changes in our net worth. We will incur leverage only when there is an expectation that it will enhance returns, although there can be no assurance that our use of leverage will prove to be beneficial. Moreover, there can be no assurance that we will be able to meet our debt service obligations and, to the extent that we cannot, we risk the loss of some or all of our assets or a financial loss if we are required to liquidate assets at a commercially inopportune time.

We and our subsidiaries are parties to agreements and debt instruments that restrict future indebtedness and the payment of dividends, including indirect restrictions (through, for example, covenants requiring the maintenance of specified levels of net worth and earnings to debt service ratios) and direct restrictions. As a result, in the event of a deterioration in our financial condition, these agreements or debt instruments could restrict our ability to pay dividends. Moreover, if we fail to pay dividends as required by the Internal Revenue Code, whether as a result of restrictive covenants in

our debt instruments or otherwise, we may lose our status as a REIT. For more information regarding the consequences of loss of REIT status, please read the risk factor entitled "We May Be Subject to Adverse Consequences if We Fail to Qualify as a Real Estate Investment Trust."

We Utilize Interest Rate Hedging Arrangements Which May Adversely Affect Our Borrowing Cost and Expose Us to Other Risks.

We have variable rate lending assets and variable rate debt obligations. These assets and liabilities create a natural hedge against changes in variable interest rates. This means that as interest rates increase, we earn more on our variable rate lending assets and pay more on our variable rate debt obligations and, conversely, as interest rates decrease, we earn less on our variable rate lending assets and pay less on our variable rate debt obligations. When our variable rate debt obligations exceed our variable rate lending assets, we utilize derivative instruments to limit the impact of changing interest rates on our net income. We do not use derivative instruments to hedge assets or for speculative purposes. The derivatives instruments we use are typically in the form of interest rate swaps and interest rate caps. Interest rate swaps effectively change variable rate debt obligations to fixed rate debt obligations, or vice versa. Interest rate caps effectively limit the maximum interest rate on variable rate debt obligations.

The primary risks from our use of derivative instruments is the risk that a counterparty to a hedging arrangement could default on its obligation and the risk that we may have to pay certain costs, such as transaction fees or breakage costs, if a hedging arrangement is terminated by us. As a matter of policy, we enter into hedging arrangements with counterparties that are large, creditworthy financial institutions typically rated at least "AA/Aa2" by Standard & Poor's and Moody's Investors Service, respectively. Our hedging strategy is monitored by our Audit Committee on behalf of our Board of Directors and may be changed by the Board of Directors without stockholder approval.

Developing an effective strategy for dealing with movements in interest rates is complex and no strategy can completely insulate us from risks associated with such fluctuations. There can be no assurance that our hedging activities will have the desired beneficial impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

We Face a Risk of Liability Under Environmental Laws.

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous owner of real estate (including, in certain circumstances, a secured lender that succeeds to ownership or control of a property) may become liable for the costs of removal or remediation of certain hazardous or toxic substances at, on, under or in its property. Those laws typically impose cleanup responsibility and liability without regard to whether the owner or control party knew of or was responsible for the release or presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. The costs of investigation, remediation or removal of those substances may be substantial. The owner or control party of a site may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating from a site. Certain environmental laws also impose liability in connection with the handling of or exposure to asbestos-containing materials, pursuant to which third parties may seek recovery from owners of real properties for personal injuries associated with asbestos-containing materials. Absent succeeding to ownership or control of real property, a secured lender is not likely to be subject to any of these forms of environmental liability.

Adverse Changes in General Economic Conditions Can Adversely Affect Our Business.

Our success is dependent upon the general economic conditions in the geographic areas in which a substantial number of our investments are located. Adverse changes in national economic conditions or in the economic conditions of the regions in which we conduct substantial business likely would have an adverse effect on real estate values and, accordingly, our business.

We May Be Subject to Adverse Consequences If We Fail to Qualify as a Real Estate Investment Trust.

We intend to operate so as to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. We have received an opinion of our legal counsel, Clifford Chance US LLP, that, based on certain assumptions and factual representations, our existing legal organization and our actual and proposed method of operation, enable us to satisfy the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code. Investors should be aware, however, that opinions of counsel are not binding on the Internal Revenue Service or any court. The opinion only represents the view of our counsel based on their review and analysis of existing law, that includes no controlling precedents. Furthermore, both the validity of the opinion and our qualification as a REIT will depend on our continuing ability to meet various requirements concerning, among other things, the ownership of our outstanding stock, the nature of our assets, the sources of our income and the amount of our distributions to our stockholders.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we would not be allowed a deduction for distributions to our stockholders in computing our taxable income and would be subject to federal income tax, including any applicable minimum tax, on our taxable income with respect to any such taxable year for which the statute of limitations remains open at regular corporate rates. Unless entitled to relief under certain Internal Revenue Code provisions, we also would be disqualified from treatment as a real estate investment trust for the four subsequent taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost. As a result, cash available for payment of interest and principal on the iStar Notes would be reduced for each of the years involved. Furthermore, it is possible that future economic, market, legal, tax or other considerations may cause the Board of Directors to revoke the REIT election.

Even if we qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to certain state and local taxes on our income and property, and may be subject to certain federal taxes.

Quarterly Results May Fluctuate and May Not Be Indicative of Future Quarterly Performance.

Our quarterly operating results could fluctuate; therefore, you should not rely on past quarterly results to be indicative of our performance in future quarters. Factors that could cause quarterly operating results to fluctuate include, among others, variations in our investment origination volume, variations in the timing of prepayments, the degree to which we encounter competition in our markets and general economic conditions.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

				Years En	ded Decem	ber 31,	
	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2004		2003	2002	2001	2000	1999
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock							
dividends(1)	1	1.4x(2)	2.0x	1.7x	1.8x	1.8x	1.1x(3)
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(1)	1	1.7x(2)	2.4x	2.1x	2.2x	2.2x	1.4x(3)

- (1)

 For the purposes of calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, "earnings" consist of income from continuing operations before adjustment for minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries, or income or loss from equity investees, income taxes and cumulative effect of change in accounting principle plus "fixed charges" and certain other adjustments. "Fixed charges" consist of interest incurred on all indebtedness (including amortization of original issue discount) and the implied interest component of our rent obligations in the years presented.
- Includes the effect of CEO, CFO and ACRE Partners compensation charges of \$106.9 million, 8.75% Senior Notes due 2008 redemption charge of \$11.5 million (and the preferred stock redemption charge of \$9.0 million for the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred dividends). Excluding these charges, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends and the ratio of earnings to fixed charges would have been 2.0x and 2.4x, respectively.
- Includes the effect of a non-recurring, non-cash charge in the amount of approximately \$94.5 million relating to our November 1999 acquisition of the former external advisor to our company. Excluding these charges, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends and the ratio of earnings to fixed charges would have been 1.9x and 2.4x, respectively.

DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

The table below reflects our debt obligations under various arrangements with financial institutions as of September 30, 2004. All of the indebtedness shown below which has not subsequently been repaid is non-recourse to iStar Financial, the parent company; except that, iStar Financial is the borrower under the unsecured revolving credit facility shown below; iStar Financial is the issuer of the 8.75%, 7.0%, 6.50%, 6.0%, 5.70%, 5.125%, 4.875% and senior floating rate unsecured notes shown below; and iStar Financial has provided limited guarantees of certain subsidiary borrowings. Specifically, iStar Financial is a guarantor of a \$148.0 million subsidiary financing due 2006 and a guarantor of borrowings under secured revolving credit facilities as follows: (1) up to \$30 million under the \$700 million secured facility due January 2007; (2) up to 10% of outstanding borrowings under the \$350 million and \$500 million secured facilities due August and September, 2005, respectively; and (3) up to a 15% of outstanding borrowings under the \$250 million secured credit facility due March 2005. In addition, iStar Financial provides guarantees under non-recourse subsidiary borrowings for customary carve-out matters such as fraud, misappropriation and voluntary bankruptcy proceedings.

We are subject to a number of covenants in our borrowing arrangements. These covenants are both financial and non-financial in nature. Significant financial covenants include limitations on our ability to incur indebtedness beyond specified levels. Significant non-financial covenants include a requirement in our publicly-held debt securities that we offer to repurchase those securities at a premium if we undergo a change of control.

The iStar Notes that will be issued in the exchange offer will form part of our Series B 5.70% Senior Notes due 2014.

Carrying Value as of

	Maximum Amount Available	Sept	ember 30, 2004	De	cember 31, 2003	Stated Interest Rates(1)	Scheduled Maturity Date
			(dollars in the	usan	ds)		
Secured revolving credit facilities:							
Line S of credit	\$ 250,000	\$	42,000	\$	88,640	LIBOR + 1.50% 2.05%	March 2005
Line of credit	700,000		69,900		310,364	LIBOR + 1.40% 2.15%	January 2007(2)
Line of credit(3)	350,000		10,811		117,211	LIBOR + 1.50% 2.25%	August 2006(2)
Line of credit	500,000		73,084		180,376	LIBOR + 1.50% 2.25%	September 2005
Unsecured revolving credit facilities:							
Line of credit	850,000		642,000			LIBOR + 1.00%	April 2008(4)
Line of credit					130,000	LIBOR + 2.125%	July 2004
Total s revolvin credit facilities	g	\$	837,795	\$	826,591		
Secured term							
loans:							
	by CTL assets		127.526		193,000	LIBOR + 1.85%	July 2006 March 2009
	by CTL assets by CTL assets		137,536 135,000		140,440 135,000	7.44% LIBOR + 1.75%	October 2008
Secured	by CTL assets		41,139		133,000	7.19% and 7.22%	January 2018 and December 2026
	by CTL assets by CTL		24,000 86,113		92,876	LIBOR + 1.25% 6.80% 8.80%	November 2004 Various through 2022
bond inv	by corporate restments		148,037			LIBOR + 1.05% 1.50%	January 2006
	by CTL assets		76,994		77,938	6.55%	November 2005
	by CTL assets		60,352		60,874	6.41% LIBOR + 2.50%	January 2013
lending	by corporate investments by corporate				60,000 48,000	LIBOR + 2.30% LIBOR + 2.125%	June 2004 (6) July 2008 (7)
	investments				10,000	E150K 2.123 //	July 2000 (1)
Total +	m loons		700 171		QA0 120		
Total ter Less: de (discoun	bt premium /		709,171 6,230		808,128 (128)		
Total sec	cured term		715,401		808,000		

Carrying Value as of

ar Asset Receivables ured notes:				
STARs Series 2002-1:				
Class A1		40,011	LIBOR + 0.26%	June 2004(8)
Class A2	253,416	381,296	LIBOR + 0.38%	December 2009(
Class B	39,955	39,955	LIBOR + 0.65%	April 2011(8)
Class C	26,637	26,637	LIBOR + 0.75%	May 2011(8)
Class D	21,310	21,310	LIBOR + 0.85%	January 2012(8)
Class E	42,619	42,619	LIBOR + 1.235%	January 2012(8)
Class F	26,637	26,637	LIBOR + 1.335%	January 2012(8)
Class G	,	,		
	21,309	21,309	LIBOR + 1.435%	January 2012(8)
Class H	26,637	26,637	6.35%	January 2012(8
Class J	26,637	26,637	6.35%	May 2012(8)
Class K	26,637	26,637	6.35%	May 2012(8)
Total STARs Series 2002-1	511,794	679,685		
Less: debt discount	(3,815)	(4,090)		
STARs Series 2003-1:				
Class A1	185,050	235.808	LIBOR + 0.25%	October 2005(9
Class A2	225,227	248,206	LIBOR +0.25%	August 2010(9)
Class B	16,744	18,452	LIBOR + 0.55%	July 2011(9)
Class C	18,418	20,297		•
			LIBOR + 0.65%	April 2012(9)
Class D	11,720	12,916	LIBOR + 0.75%	October 2012(9
Class E	13,395	14,762	LIBOR + 1.05%	May 2013(9)
Class F	13,395	14,762	LIBOR + 1.10%	June 2013(9)
Class G	11,721	12,916	LIBOR + 1.25%	June 2013(9)
Class H	11,721	12,916	4.97%	June 2013(9)
Class J	13,394	14,761	5.07%	June 2013(9)
Class K	23,441	25,833	5.56%	June 2013(9)
Total STARS	544,226	631,629		
Series 2003-1	344,220	031,029		
Total iStar Asset	1,052,205	1,307,224		
Receivables secured notes	1,032,203	1,307,224		
ecured es:				
LIBOR + 1.25%	200,000		LIBOR + 1.25%	March 2007
Senior Notes				
4.875% Senior Notes	350,000		4.875%	January 2009
5.125% Senior Notes	250,000		5.125%	April 2011
5.70% Senior Notes	250,000		5.70%	March 2014
6.00% Senior Notes	350,000	350,000	6.00%	December 2010
6.50% Senior Notes	150,000	150,000	6.50%	December 2013
7.00% Senior Notes	185,000	185,000	7.00%	March 2008
TriNet 7.70%	100,000	100,000	7.70%	July 2017
Notes(10)(11)	,			•
TriNet 7.95% Notes(10)(11)	50,000	50,000	7.95%	May 2006
8.75% Senior Notes	240,000	350,000	8.75%	August 2008
Total unsecured	2,125,000	1,185,000		
notes				
Less: debt discount	(59,427)	(47,921)		
Plus: impact of pay-floating swap	1,685	690		
agreements(12)				

Carrying Value as of

Total unsecured notes	2,067,258	1,137,769			
Other debt obligations		34,148	Various	Various	
Total debt obligations	\$ 4,672,659	\$ 4,113,732			
			20		

Explanatory Notes:

- (1) Substantially all variable-rate debt obligations are based on 30-day LIBOR and reprice monthly. The 30-day LIBOR rate on September 30, 2004 was 1.84%.
- (2) Maturity date reflects a one-year "term-out" extension at our option.
- On July 20, 2004, this secured facility was amended to reduce the maximum amount available to \$350.0 million, to extend the marturity to August 2005 and to reduce the stated interest rate on first mortgages to LIBOR + 1.50%.
- (4) Subsequent to September 30, 2004, the interest rate and facility fees were reduced to LIBOR + 0.875% and 17.5 basis points, respectively, due to an upgrade in our senior unsecured debt rating to investment grade by both S&P and Moody's. Maturity date reflects a one-year extension at the Company's option.
- During August 2004, we prepaid three term loans aggregating approximately \$3.8 million that financed three of the assets classified as held for sale at September 30, 2004.
- (6) On January 9, 2004, we repaid this term loan that had a final maturity of June 2004.
- (7) On May 25, 2004, we repaid this term loan that had a final maturity of July 2008.
- Principal payments on these bonds are a function of the principal repayments on loan or CTL assets which collateralize these obligations. The dates indicated above represent the expected date on which the final payment would occur for such class based on the assumptions that the loans which collateralize the obligations are not voluntarily prepaid, the loans are paid on their effective maturity dates and no extensions of the effective maturity dates of any of the loans are granted. The final maturity date for the underlying indenture on class A1 is May 28, 2017 and the final maturity date for classes A2, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, J and K is May 28, 2020.
- Principal payments on these bonds are a function of the principal repayments on loan or CTL assets which collateralize these obligations. The dates indicated above represent the expected date on which the final payment would occur for such class based on the assumptions that the loans which collateralize the obligations are not voluntarily prepaid, the loans are paid on their effective maturity dates and no extensions of the effective maturity dates of any of the loans are granted. The final maturity date for the underlying indenture is August 28, 2022.
- (10)

 The Notes are callable by us at any time for an amount equal to the total of principal outstanding, accrued interest and the applicable make-whole prepayment premium.
- The 7.70% Notes are the TriNet Notes that are the subject of the exchange offer contemplated by this prospectus. These obligations were assumed as part of the acquisition of TriNet. As part of the accounting for the purchase, these fixed-rate obligations were considered to have stated interest rates which were below the then-prevailing market rates at which TriNet could issue new debt obligations and, accordingly, we ascribed a market discount to each obligation. Such discounts are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense using the effective interest method over the related term of the obligations. As adjusted, the effective annual interest rates on these obligations as of September 30, 2004 were 9.51% and 9.04% for the 7.70% Notes and 7.95% Notes, respectively.
- On January 15, 2004, we entered into four pay-floating interest rate swaps struck at 3.678%, 3.713%, 3.686% and 3.684% with notional amounts of \$105.0 million, \$100.0 million, \$100.0 million and \$45.0 million, respectively, and maturing on January 15, 2009. On December 17, 2003, the Company entered into three pay-floating interest rate swaps struck at 4.381%, 4.345% and 4.29% in the notional amounts of \$200.0 million, \$100.0 million and \$50.0 million, respectively. On November 27, 2002, the Company entered into two pay-floating interest rate swaps struck at 3.8775% and 3.81% in the notional amounts of \$100.0 million and \$50.0 million, respectively. These swaps are intended to mitigate the risk of changes in the fair value of \$350.0 million of five-year Senior Notes, \$350.0 million of seven-year Senior Notes and \$150.0 million of ten-year Senior Notes, respectively, attributable to changes in LIBOR. For accounting purposes, quarterly we adjust the value of the swap to its fair value and adjusts the carrying amount of the hedged liability by an offsetting amount.

THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND CONSENT SOLICITATION

This section describes the exchange offer and consent solicitation. While we believe that the following description covers the material terms of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, this summary may not contain all of the information that is important to you. For a more complete understanding of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, you should carefully read this entire prospectus and the other documents to which we refer.

If you tender any of your TriNet Notes, you will automatically consent to amendments to the indenture governing those notes. The proposed amendments to the indenture include the elimination or waiver of most of the restrictive covenants and amendment to some of the events of default that are more fully described elsewhere in this prospectus. See "Proposed Amendments."

Purpose of This Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

TriNet is subject to requirements under the indenture governing the TriNet Notes to file reports under The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These reporting obligations are becoming increasingly burdensome and costly. We are seeking to consolidate all of our securities laws reporting obligations at iStar Financial. We are also considering simplifying our corporate structure by consolidating TriNet into iStar through a merger, liquidation or other appropriate method. The exchange offer and proposed indenture amendments will facilitate these objectives. TriNet also intends to solicit consents from holders of its 7.95% Notes due 2006 to amend the restrictive covenants and events of default in those securities, which are substantially similar to those in the TriNet Notes, to allow us to consolidate our reporting obligations and to facilitate a merger or consolidation of TriNet with iStar. The successful completion of that consent solicitation is not a condition to the consummation of this exchange offer and consent solicitation. See "Prospectus Summary Recent Developments."

Terms of This Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

We are offering to eligible holders of the TriNet Notes the opportunity to exchange, for each \$1,000 aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes, our iStar Notes in a principal amount determined by the exchange ratio for the TriNet Notes validly tendered and not validly withdrawn.

The exchange price includes a consent amount of \$20.00 per \$1,000 principal amount. The consent amount is only offered to eligible holders who validly tender their TriNet Notes on or prior to the consent date and do not validly withdraw their tenders on or prior to the consent date. For holders who tender after the consent date, the consent amount will be deducted from the exchange price. Holders will not receive any iStar Notes unless and until the exchange offer is consummated. Eligible holders who validly tender their TriNet Notes after the consent date will receive, if the exchange offer is consummated, for each \$1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes tendered, iStar Notes in a principal amount determined based on the exchange ratio which will be equal to the exchange price minus \$20.00 per \$1,000 principal amount, which represents the consent amount, divided by the new issue price.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of the exchange offer and consent solicitation (including, if the exchange offer and consent solicitation is extended or amended, the terms and conditions of any such extension or amendment), we are also soliciting consents with respect to the proposed amendments and waivers to the indenture governing the TriNet Notes. This consent solicitation is being made in order to obtain the requisite number of consents of the holders of the TriNet Notes. The indenture governing the TriNet Notes will be amended upon the consent of holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of TriNet Notes outstanding under that indenture.

If you desire to tender your TriNet Notes pursuant to this exchange offer and consent solicitation, you are required to consent to the proposed amendments and waivers, and the completion, execution and delivery of the consent and letter of transmittal by you, or the sending of an agent's message in connection with a book-entry transfer of notes, in connection with the tender of TriNet Notes held by you will constitute consent by you to the proposed amendments with respect to such notes.

If we make a material change in the terms of this exchange offer and consent solicitation or the information concerning this exchange offer and consent solicitation or waive a material condition of this exchange offer and consent solicitation, we will disseminate additional materials regarding this exchange offer and consent solicitation to the extent required by law.

To the extent we receive the requisite consents, we expect to enter into a supplemental indenture giving effect to the proposed amendments on the consent date, and thereafter you will not be permitted to withdraw the TriNet Notes you tender. We will issue a press release on the business day following the execution of the supplemental indenture. If you tender TriNet Notes after the consent date, you may validly withdraw them prior to 12:00 midnight New York City time on the expiration date. You may not revoke your consent unless you also withdraw your tender, and if you revoke your consent, you will be deemed to have also withdrawn the notes you have tendered.

Determination of the Exchange Price of the TriNet Notes; Determination of New Issue Price of the iStar Notes; Determination of Exchange Ratio

Exchange Price

The exchange price will equal (rounded to the nearest cent): (1) the discounted value (calculated by the dealer manager in accordance with market practice by the formula set forth in Annex A to this prospectus) of the remaining payments of principal and interest of \$1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes through their maturity date at a discount rate equal to: (a) the bid-side yield on the reference U.S. Treasury Security listed below based on the bid-side price for the reference U.S. Treasury Security, at 2:00 PM, New York City time, on , 2004 (the "pricing time," unless we extend the expiration date, in which case the pricing time will be 2:00 PM, New York City time, on the second business day prior to the expiration date as so extended) as displayed on the Bloomberg Government Pricing Monitor Page PX7 (the "quotation report"), plus (b) the fixed spread listed below. If you tender your TriNet Notes after the consent date, and do not withdraw them prior to the expiration of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, the exchange price for your TriNet Notes will be reduced by \$20.00 per \$1,000 principal amount, which represents the consent amount.

CUSIP No.	Note Description	Outstanding Principal Amount	Maturity Date	Reference U.S. Treasury Date Security		Fixed Spread (in basis points)	
896287AC3	TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. 7.70% Senior Notes due 2017	\$ 100,000,000	July 15, 2017	4 ¹ / ₄ % Notes due November 15, 2014	[]	

New Issue Price

The new issue price of the iStar Notes will equal (rounded to the nearest cent): (1) the discounted value (calculated by the dealer manager in accordance with market practice by the formula set forth in Annex B to this prospectus) of the remaining payments of principal and interest on \$1,000 principal amount of iStar Notes through their maturity date at a discount rate equal to: (a) the bid-side yield on the reference U.S. Treasury Security listed below, based on the bid-side price for the reference U.S.

Treasury Security at pricing time (unless we extend the expiration date, in which case the pricing time will be 2:00 p.m., New York City time, on the second business day prior to the expiration date as so extended) as displayed on the Bloomberg Government Pricing Monitor Page PX7; plus (b) the fixed spread listed below.

CUSIP No.	Note Description	Outstanding Principal Amount	Maturity Date	Reference U.S. Treasury Security	Fixed Spread (in basis points)	
45031UAH4	iStar 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014	\$ 250,000,000	March 1, 2014	4 ¹ / ₄ % Notes due November 15, 2014	[]

Exchange Ratio. The exchange ratio is equal to the exchange price, which includes accrued and unpaid interest, divided by the new issue price, which includes accrued and unpaid interest, rounded to six decimal places. For each \$1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes tendered, holders will receive iStar Notes equal to \$1,000 multiplied by the exchange ratio. Since the iStar Notes will be issued in denominations of \$1,000, we will round the exchange ratio calculation down to the nearest \$1,000 principal amount.

The difference between the result of the exchange ratio calculation before giving effect to rounding and the rounded principal amount of iStar Notes is referred to as residual cash. The residual cash amount will be adjusted by multiplying the residual cash amount by the new issue price divided by 1,000. The residual cash amount will be paid in cash to holders upon consummation of the exchange offer.

Illustrative Examples

The information provided in the following table is for illustrative purpose only, and we make no representation with respect to the actual consideration that may be paid pursuant to the exchange offer. The exchange yield, exchange price, new issue yield and new issue price may be greater or less than that shown in the following table, depending on the yield on the reference U.S. Treasury Security as of the pricing time.

The following table illustrates, for the TriNet Notes, the exchange yield and exchange price per \$1,000 principal amount of TriNet Notes, and, for the iStar Notes, the new issue yield and new issue price, assuming an expiration date of [], a settlement date of [] and a reference U.S. Treasury Security yield as of 2:00 PM, New York City time, on [].

Hypothetical Exchange Ratio Calculation

E----

E----

Exchange Price per \$1,000 of TriNet Notes

D - f - - - - - -

Description	UST Yield			Spread		Exchange Yield		Price(1)	
TriNet Notes New Issue Price	[per \$1,0	%] 00 of iStar No	[otes	bps]	[%]	\$		
Description		Reference UST Yield		Fixed Spread	Exchange Yield			New Issue Price(2)	
iStar Notes	[%]	[bps]	[%]	\$		

(1) Exchange Price includes accrued and unpaid interest pursuant to the formula provided in Annex A.

(2)
New Issue Price includes accrued and unpaid interest pursuant to the formula provided in Annex B.

2/

Exchange Ratio

You can obtain recently calculated hypothetical quotes of the yield of the reference U.S. Treasury Security, the exchange yield and the exchange price and new issue yield and new issue price prior to the pricing time, by contacting the Global Liability Management Group at the dealer manager at (877) 696-BEAR (toll free) or (877) 696-2327.

Conditions to the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

Notwithstanding any other provision of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, we are not required to accept for exchange, or to issue iStar Notes in exchange for, any TriNet Notes and may terminate or amend the exchange offer and consent solicitation, if any of the following events occur prior to acceptance of such TriNet Notes:

- (a) we have not received valid tenders from holders of at least a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes;
- (b) the trustee of the TriNet Notes shall have objected in any respect to or taken any action that could in our reasonable judgment, adversely affect the consummation of this exchange offer and consent solicitation or our ability to effect any of the proposed amendments, or shall have taken any action that challenges the validity or effectiveness of the procedures used by us in soliciting the consents (including the form thereof) or in the making of this exchange offer and consent solicitation or the acceptance of the notes or consents;
- (c) there shall be threatened, instituted or pending any action or proceeding before, or any injunction, order or decree shall have been issued by, any United States federal or New York state court or governmental agency or other governmental regulatory or administrative agency or commission,
 - (1) seeking to restrain or prohibit the making or consummation of the exchange offer and consent solicitation or any other transaction contemplated by the exchange offer and consent solicitation, or assessing or seeking any damages as a result thereof, or
 - (2) resulting in a material delay in our ability to accept for exchange or exchange some or all of the TriNet Notes pursuant to the exchange offer and consent solicitation;

or any statute, rule, regulation, order or injunction shall be sought, proposed, introduced, enacted, promulgated or deemed applicable to the exchange offer and consent solicitation or any of the transactions contemplated by the exchange offer and consent solicitation by any government or governmental authority, domestic or foreign, or any action shall have been taken, proposed or threatened, by any government, governmental authority, agency or court, domestic or foreign, that in our reasonable judgment might, directly or indirectly, result in any of the consequences referred to in clauses (1) or (2) above;

(d) there shall have occurred:

(1) any general suspension of or general limitation on prices for, or trading in, securities on the NYSE or Nasdaq or in the over-the-counter market,

- (2) any limitation by a United States federal or New York state governmental agency or authority which may adversely affect our ability to complete the transactions contemplated by the exchange offer and consent solicitation,
- (3) a declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in the United States or any limitation by any United States federal or New York state governmental agency or authority which adversely affects the extension of credit or
- (4) a commencement of a war, armed hostilities or other similar international calamity directly or indirectly involving the United States, or, in the case of any of the foregoing existing at the time of the commencement of the exchange offer and consent solicitation, a material acceleration or worsening thereof; or
- (e) any change (or any development involving a prospective change) shall have occurred or be threatened in our business, properties, assets, liabilities, financial condition, operations, results of operations or prospects and our subsidiaries taken as a whole that, in our reasonable judgment, is or may be adverse to us, or we have become aware of facts that, in our reasonable judgment, have or may have adverse significance with respect to the value of the TriNet Notes or the iStar Notes;

which in our reasonable judgment in any case, and regardless of the circumstances (including any action by us) giving rise to any such condition, makes it inadvisable to proceed with the exchange offer and consent solicitation and/or with such acceptance for exchange or with such exchange.

The foregoing conditions are for our sole benefit and may be asserted by us regardless of the circumstances giving rise to any condition or may be waived by us in whole or in part at any time in our reasonable discretion. Our failure at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any such right and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time. We have not made a decision as to what circumstances would lead us to waive any such condition, and any such waiver would depend on circumstances prevailing at the time of such waiver. Any determination by us concerning the events described in this section will be final and binding upon all persons.

In addition, we will not accept for exchange any TriNet Notes tendered, and no iStar Notes will be issued in exchange for any such TriNet Notes, if at such time any stop order shall be threatened or in effect with respect to the Registration Statement, of which this prospectus constitutes a part, or the qualification of the indenture governing the iStar Notes under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended.

This exchange offer and consent solicitation is conditioned on, among other things, our receiving tenders from holders of a majority of the principal amount outstanding of the TriNet Notes. The exchange offer and consent solicitation are not conditioned upon either: (i) the success of the consent solicitation with regard to TriNet's 2006 notes, or (2) a merger, consolidation or liquation including iStar and TriNet.

Expiration Date; Extension; Termination

This exchange offer and consent solicitation expires at 12:00 midnight, New York City time, on [], unless we extend it. If we receive valid tenders of at least a majority in principal amount of TriNet Notes, we intend to execute a supplemental indenture containing the proposed amendments on or promptly following the consent date. Upon such execution, the terms of the supplemental indenture will become effective. However, the proposed amendments will not become operative until we accept and consummate the exchange of all notes that are validly tendered. As set forth in this prospectus and in the accompanying consent and letter of transmittal, we will accept for exchange any and all of the

TriNet Notes that are properly tendered on or prior to the consent date or expiration date, as the case may be, and are not withdrawn as permitted below.

We expressly reserve the right, at any time or from time to time, to extend the period of time during which this exchange offer and consent solicitation is open, and thereby delay acceptance for exchange of the TriNet Notes, by announcing an extension of this exchange offer and consent solicitation as described below. During any extension, all of the TriNet Notes previously tendered will remain subject to this exchange offer and consent solicitation and may be accepted for exchange by us.

For purposes of the exchange offer, the term "consent date" means 5:00 PM, New York City time, on [us, in which case the consent date means the latest time and date to which the consent date is extended.

] unless extended by

We also expressly reserve the right, at any time or from time to time, regardless of whether or not the conditions to this exchange offer and consent solicitation have been satisfied, subject to applicable law, to:

delay the acceptance for exchange of TriNet Notes;

terminate this exchange offer and consent solicitation prior to the expiration date;

extend the expiration date and retain all of the TriNet Notes that have been tendered;

refuse to accept tendered TriNet Notes and return all notes that have been tendered to us;

waive any condition or otherwise amend the terms of this exchange offer and consent solicitation in any respect prior to the expiration of this exchange offer and consent solicitation; or

accept all properly tendered TriNet Notes that have not been withdrawn,

with respect to each of the above by giving written notice of such extension, amendment or termination to the exchange agent. Any extension, amendment or termination will be followed as promptly as practicable by public announcement thereof, with the announcement in the case of an extension to be issued no later than 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on the first business day after the previously scheduled expiration date of the exchange offer and consent solicitation. Without limiting the manner in which we may choose to make any public announcement, we will have no obligation to publish, advertise or otherwise communicate any such public announcement other than by issuing a release to the Dow Jones News Service.

In our sole discretion, we will decide whether to exercise our right to extend the expiration date for this exchange offer and consent solicitation.

We expressly reserve the right, in our reasonable discretion, to terminate this exchange offer and consent solicitation if any of the conditions set forth above under "Conditions to this Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation" shall not have occurred. Any such termination will be followed promptly by a public announcement. In the event that we terminate this exchange offer and consent solicitation, we will give immediate notice thereof to the exchange agent. If this exchange offer is terminated, any TriNet Notes you have tendered will be returned promptly to you.

Settlement Date

We will deliver the iStar Notes and pay any residual cash amounts on the settlement date, which is expected to be the third business day following the expiration date or as soon as practicable thereafter. We will not be obligated to deliver iStar Notes or pay any cash amounts unless the exchange offer is consummated.

Proposed Amendments

We are soliciting consents to the proposed amendments and to the execution and delivery of the supplemental indenture for the TriNet Notes, a copy of which is available upon request from us or the trustee and has been filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. If the requisite consents are obtained, the proposed amendments would eliminate or waive most of the restrictive covenants and amend some of the events of default of the TriNet Notes to conform to those of the iStar Notes. Specifically, the following covenants would be eliminated or waived:

Section 801 Consolidations and Mergers of Company and Sales, Leases and Conveyances Permitted Subject to Certain Conditions;

Section 1004 Existence;

Section 1005 Maintenance of Properties;

Section 1006 Insurance;

Section 1007 Payment of Taxes and Other Claims;

Section 2.4 Limitations on Incurrence of Indebtedness; and

Section 2.15 Provision of Financial Information.

The Following events of default would be amended:

Sections 2.13(5) and (9) Events of Default The events of default arising from defaults under other indebtedness and entries of judgments, orders or decrees against TriNet or a subsidiary of TriNet would be amended to conform to the terms of the similar events of default under the iStar Notes.

For a description of the covenants to be eliminated or waived and the proposed amendments to the events of default, see the section entitled "Proposed Amendments to the TriNet Notes" beginning on page 62 of this prospectus. The proposed amendments would also involve other changes to the indenture governing the TriNet Notes of a technical or conforming nature.

Approval of the proposed amendments requires the receipt of the requisite consents from holders of at least a majority of the outstanding principal amount of the TriNet Notes. The supplemental indenture containing the proposed amendments will become effective upon execution by us and the trustee and, upon such execution, the requisite consents will become irrevocable and you and the other holders of the applicable TriNet Notes will become bound by the terms of the supplemental indenture. The proposed amendments will not become operative until we exchange all TriNet Notes that are validly tendered, and the indenture governing the TriNet Notes will remain in effect, without giving effect to the proposed amendments, until the proposed amendments become operative.

The proposed amendments to the indenture constitute a single proposal and you must consent to the proposed amendments to the indenture as an entirety and may not consent selectively with respect to certain of the proposed amendments. The tender of TriNet Notes by a holder constitutes delivery of such holder's consent to all of the proposed amendments. A consent purporting to be a consent to only some of the proposed amendments will not be valid and will be considered a consent to all of the proposed amendments.

Absence of Dissenters' Rights

Holders of the TriNet Notes do not have any appraisal or dissenters' rights in connection with the exchange offer.

Procedures for Tendering Notes

Only holders of record are authorized to tender their TriNet Notes for exchange. If you wish to tender TriNet Notes in this exchange offer and you are not a participant in DTC, you should contact your broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee promptly regarding the procedures to follow to tender your notes. If you wish to exchange TriNet Notes in this exchange offer on your own behalf, you must, before completing and signing the consent and letter of transmittal and delivering your TriNet Notes, make appropriate arrangements to register the ownership of those TriNet Notes in your name. This may take considerable time and may not be able to be completed before the expiration date of this exchange offer.

The tender of TriNet Notes pursuant to this exchange offer and in accordance with the procedures described below will be deemed to constitute a consent with respect to the proposed amendments to the indenture governing the notes tendered and to the execution and delivery of the supplemental indenture for the TriNet Notes.

If you have any questions or need assistance in tendering your TriNet Notes, please call Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc., the information agent, whose address and contact details appear in the section entitled "The Information Agent" below.

Tender of TriNet Notes held through a custodian. If your TriNet Notes are held of record by a broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee, you must contact the holder of record promptly and instruct the holder of record to tender your notes on your behalf. Any beneficial owner of TriNet Notes held of record by DTC or its nominee, through authority granted by DTC may direct the holder of record to tender on the beneficial owner's behalf.

Tender of TriNet Notes held through DTC. To tender TriNet Notes that are held through DTC, you should transmit your acceptance through the Automated Tender Offer Program, and DTC will then edit and verify the acceptance and send an agent's message to the exchange agent for its acceptance. Delivery of tendered TriNet Notes must be made to the exchange agent pursuant to the book-entry delivery procedures set forth below.

You should send consents and letters of transmittal only to the exchange agent and not to us or the dealer manager.

The delivery of TriNet Notes and letters of transmittal and consent, any required signature guarantees and all other required documents, including delivery through DTC and any acceptance of an agent's message transmitted through the Automated Tender Offer Program or otherwise, is at the election and risk of the holder tendering those TriNet Notes and delivering the consent and letter of transmittal. Except as otherwise provided in the consent and letter of transmittal and consent, delivery will be deemed made only when actually received by the exchange agent. If delivery is by mail, we recommend that the holder use properly insured, registered mail with return receipt requested, and that the mailing be made sufficiently in advance of the expiration date to assure timely delivery to the exchange agent. If delivery is made by facsimile, the holder must provide the original within five business days after facsimile delivery.

Except as provided below, unless the TriNet Notes being tendered for exchange are deposited with the exchange agent on or before the expiration date, accompanied by a properly completed and duly

executed consent and letter of transmittal or a properly transmitted agent's message, we may, at our option, treat the tender of the notes as defective for purposes of the right to exchange pursuant to this exchange offer. Exchange of the TriNet Notes will be made only against deposit of the tendered TriNet Notes and delivery of all other required documents.

Book-entry delivery procedures. The exchange agent will establish accounts with respect to the TriNet Notes at DTC for purposes of this exchange offer within two business days after the date of this prospectus, and any financial institution that is a participant in DTC may make book-entry delivery of the notes by causing DTC, as appropriate, to transfer such TriNet Notes into the exchange agent's account in accordance with DTC's procedures for such transfer. Although delivery of TriNet Notes may be effected through book-entry into the exchange agent's account at DTC, the consent and letter of transmittal, or facsimile of it, with any required signature guarantees, or an agent's message in connection with a book-entry transfer, and any other required documents, must, in any case, be transmitted to and received by the exchange agent on or before the expiration date, as applicable. Delivery of documents to DTC does not constitute delivery to the exchange agent.

The confirmation of a book-entry transfer into the exchange agent's account at DTC as described above is referred to as a "book-entry confirmation."

"Agent's message" means a message transmitted by DTC, received by the exchange agent, and made a part of a Book-Entry Confirmation. The message states that DTC has received an express acknowledgement from the person tendering the notes that the person has received and agrees to be bound by the terms of the consent and letter of transmittal and that we may enforce such agreement against the holder.

Signature guarantees. Your broker may require signatures on letters of transmittal be guaranteed by a recognized participant in the Securities Transfer Agents Medallion Program, the New York Stock Exchange Medallion Signature Program or the Stock Exchange Medallion Program if the TriNet Notes are registered in the name of a person other than the signer of the consent and letter of transmittal.

Determination of validity. We will determine in our sole discretion all questions as to the validity, form, eligibility, including time or receipt, and acceptance and withdrawal of tendered notes. We reserve the absolute right to reject any and all notes not properly tendered or any notes whose acceptance by us would, in the opinion of our counsel, be unlawful. We also reserve the right to waive any defects, irregularities or conditions of tender as to any particular notes either before or after the expiration date. Our interpretation of the terms and conditions of this exchange offer and consent solicitation, including the instructions in the consent and letter of transmittal, will be final and binding on all parties. Unless waived, any defects or irregularities in connection with tenders of notes must be cured within a time period that we will determine. Neither we, the exchange agent nor any other person will have any duty or will incur any liability for failure to give such notification. Tenders of notes will not be considered to have been made until any defects or irregularities have been cured or waived. Any notes received by the exchange agent that are not properly tendered and as to which the defects or irregularities have not been cured or waived will be returned by the exchange agent to the tendering owners, unless otherwise provided in the consent and letter of transmittal, as soon as practicable following the expiration date.

Withdrawal Rights and Revocation of Consents

To the extent we receive the requisite consents, we expect to enter into a supplemental indenture giving effect to the proposed amendments on the consent date, and thereafter you will not be permitted to withdraw the TriNet Notes you tender. We will issue a press release on the business day following the execution of the supplemental indenture. However, if you withdraw your tendered TriNet

Notes prior to the consent date, you will not be entitled to receive the consent amount. If you tender your TriNet Notes after the consent date, you may validly withdraw TriNet Notes that you tender at any time prior to 12:00 midnight, New York City time on the expiration date. The proper withdrawal of any TriNet Notes that you tender will also constitute a withdrawal of your consent represented by those withdrawn notes to the proposed amendments.

For a withdrawal of tendered notes to be effective, a written notice of withdrawal must be received by the exchange agent on or prior to the expiration of this exchange offer at the address set forth below under "Exchange Agent." Any notice of withdrawal must:

specify the name of the person who tendered the notes to be withdrawn;

identify the notes to be withdrawn, including the name and number of the account at the applicable book-entry transfer facility to be credited; and

be signed by the holder in the same manner as the original signature on the consent and letter of transmittal by which the notes were tendered, including any required signature guarantees, or be accompanied by documents of transfer sufficient to have the trustee or other applicable person register transfer of the notes into the name of the person withdrawing the tender.

If you have tendered your TriNet Notes through a custodian but wish to withdraw them, you must withdraw your tender through the custodian prior to the expiration of this exchange offer and consent solicitation.

All questions as to the validity, form and eligibility, including time or receipt, of notices of withdrawal will be determined by us. Our determination will be final and binding on all parties. Any notes withdrawn will be deemed not to have been validly tendered for purposes of this exchange offer and consent solicitation and no iStar Notes will be issued in exchange unless the notes so withdrawn are validly retendered. Any notes which have been tendered but which are effectively withdrawn will be credited by the exchange agent to the appropriate account at DTC without expense to the withdrawing person as soon as practicable after withdrawal. Properly withdrawn notes may be retendered by following one of the procedures described above under "Procedures for Tendering Notes" at any time prior to the expiration date.

Exchange of Notes

We will issue iStar Notes upon the terms of this exchange offer and consent solicitation and applicable law with respect to the TriNet Notes validly tendered and not withdrawn for exchange under this exchange offer and consent solicitation approximately three business days subsequent to the expiration date. For purposes of this exchange offer and consent solicitation, we will be deemed to have accepted for exchange validly tendered notes for defectively tendered notes with respect to which we have waived such defect, if, as and when we give oral (confirmed in writing) or written notice of such waiver to the exchange agent. We will exchange the TriNet Notes for iStar Notes and residual cash amounts on account of rounding.

In all cases, credits of iStar Notes will only be made as soon as practicable after the expiration date of this exchange offer and consent solicitation and assuming receipt by the exchange agent of:

timely confirmation of a book-entry transfer of the TriNet Notes into the exchange agent's account at DTC pursuant to the procedures set forth in "Procedures for Exchanging Notes Book-Entry Delivery Procedures" above;

a properly completed and duly signed consent and letter of transmittal, or facsimile copy, or a properly transmitted agent's message; and

any other documents required by the consent and letter of transmittal.

If we do not accept any tendered notes for exchange pursuant to this exchange offer and consent solicitation for any reason, the exchange agent will, without expense and promptly after expiration or termination of this exchange offer and consent solicitation credit such notes to the account maintained at DTC from which the TriNet Notes were delivered.

"Blue Sky" Compliance

We are making this exchange offer and consent solicitation to all holders of TriNet Notes. We are not aware of any jurisdiction in which the making of this exchange offer and consent solicitation is not in compliance with applicable law. If we become aware of any jurisdiction in which the making of this exchange offer and consent solicitation would not be in compliance with applicable law, we will make a good faith effort to comply with any such law. If, after such good faith effort, we cannot comply with any such law, this exchange offer and consent solicitation will not be made to, nor will tenders of TriNet Notes be accepted from or on behalf of, the holders of TriNet Notes residing in such jurisdiction.

Dealer Manager

We have retained Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc. as our exclusive dealer manager in connection with this exchange offer and consent solicitation. In this capacity, Bear Stearns may contact holders of TriNet Notes regarding the exchange offer and consent solicitation and may request DTC Participants to forward this prospectus and related materials to beneficial owners of the TriNet Notes. Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP will pass upon certain legal matters for the dealer manager.

We have agreed to pay Bear Stearns customary fees and to reimburse Bear Stearns for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses for their services as Dealer Manager in connection with the exchange offer and consent solicitation. We have also agreed to indemnify Bear Stearns and their officers, directors, employees, agents and affiliates against certain liabilities under U.S. federal or state law or otherwise caused by, relating to or arising out of the exchange offer and consent solicitation.

Exchange Agent

Computershare Trust Company of New York has been appointed as the exchange agent for the exchange offer and consent solicitation. All correspondence in connection with the exchange offer and executed letters of transmittal should be directed to the exchange agent at the address set forth below. Questions and requests for assistance, requests for additional copies of this prospectus or of the consent and letter of transmittal should be directed to the information agent addressed as indicated on the back cover of this prospectus.

By Mail: By Facsimile Transmission: By Hand or Overnight Courier:

Computershare Trust Company of New York (212) 701-7636 Computershare Trust Company of New York Wall Street Station For Confirmation Only P.O. Box 1010 Telephone: 88 Pine Street, 19th Floor New York, NY 10268-1010 (212) 701-7600 New York, NY 10005

Requests for additional copies of this prospectus or the consent and letter of transmittal should be directed to the information agent.

Delivery of the consent and letter of transmittal to an address other than as set forth on the back cover or transmission of such consent and letter of transmittal via facsimile other than as set forth above does not constitute a valid delivery of the consent and letter of transmittal.

Information Agent

We have appointed Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc. to act as the information agent in connection with the exchange offer and consent solicitation of the TriNet Notes. Any questions concerning the exchange offer and consent solicitation procedures or requests for assistance or additional copies of this prospectus or the consents and letters of transmittal may be directed to the information agent at:

Georgeson Shareholder

17 State Street-10th Floor New York, NY 10004 Banks and Brokers Call 212.440.9800 All others call Toll-Free 1.866.873.6993

Fees and Expenses

The expenses of soliciting consents and consummating the exchange pursuant to the exchange offer and consent solicitation will be paid by us. Once the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part is declared effective by the SEC, we will be making the principal solicitation by mail. However, where permitted by applicable law, we may make additional solicitations by telephone, internet, e-mail, facsimile or in person by officers and regular employees of ours and those of our affiliates.

Except as described above, we will not make any payments to brokers, dealers or other persons soliciting acceptances of the exchange offer and consent solicitation. We will pay, however, the reasonable and customary fees and out-of-pocket expenses of the exchange agent, the trustee, the dealer manager, the information agent and legal, accounting, and related fees and expenses. We may also pay brokerage houses and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in forwarding copies of this prospectus and the related documents to the beneficial owners of the TriNet Notes, and in handling or forwarding exchanges.

We will also pay all transfer taxes, if any, applicable to the exchange of TriNet Notes pursuant to the exchange offer and consent solicitation. If, however, iStar Notes or TriNet Notes for principal amounts not presented for exchange or not exchanged, respectively, are to be issued in the name of any person other than the registered holder of the iStar Notes, or if presented for exchange are registered in the name of any person other than the person signing the consent and letter of transmittal, or if a transfer tax is imposed for any reason other than the exchange of TriNet Notes pursuant to the exchange offer and consent solicitation, then the amount of any such transfer taxes imposed on the registered holder or any other persons will be payable by the holder. If satisfactory evidence of payment of such taxes or exemption therefrom is not submitted with the consent, the amount of such transfer taxes will be billed directly to such holder.

DESCRIPTION OF THE ISTAR NOTES

On March 9, 2004, we issued \$250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of our 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014 in an offering for cash. We will issue additional iStar Notes in this exchange offer, under an Indenture (the "Indenture") dated March 9, 2004, between us and U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee (the "Trustee"). The form and terms of the iStar Notes will be identical in all material respects with the form and terms of the iStar Financial Inc. 5.70% Series B Senior Notes due 2014. We have summarized in this section the principal terms of the iStar Notes and the Indenture under which they were issued. This summary is not complete. You should read the Indenture and the iStar Notes for additional information before you decide to participate in the exchange offer because they, and not this description, define your rights as holders of the iStar Notes. You may request copies of these documents at our address shown under the caption "Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference" on page 75 of this prospectus. The Indenture is subject to, and governed by, the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended (the "TIA"). Capitalized terms used but not defined in this section have the meanings specified in the Indenture. For purposes of this "Description of the iStar Notes," "iStar," "we," "our" or "us" refers to iStar Financial Inc. and does not include our subsidiaries.

The iStar Notes will be unsecured obligations of the Company, ranking *pari passu* in right of payment with all other senior unsecured obligations of the Company.

The Company will issue the iStar Notes in fully registered form in denominations of \$1,000 and integral multiples thereof. The Trustee will initially act as Paying Agent and Registrar for the Notes. The iStar Notes may be presented for registration or transfer and exchange at the offices of the Registrar. The Company may change any Paying Agent and Registrar without notice to holders of the iStar Notes (the "Holders"). The Company will pay principal (and premium, if any) on the iStar Notes at the Trustee's corporate office in New York, New York. At the Company's option, interest may be paid at the Trustee's corporate trust office or by check mailed to the registered address of Holders.

Principal, Maturity and Interest

The iStar Notes are a series of securities issued under the Indenture. The Indenture permits the Company to "reopen" this series without the consent of the Holders, and issue additional iStar Notes at any time on the same terms and conditions and with the same CUSIP number as the iStar Notes being issued in this offering. The iStar Notes will mature on March 1, 2014. Interest on the iStar Notes will accrue at the rate of 5.70% per annum and will be payable semiannually in cash on each March 1 and September 1, commencing on March 1, 2005 to the persons who are registered Holders at the close of business on the February 15 and August 15 immediately preceding the applicable interest payment date. Interest on the iStar Notes will accrue from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or, if no interest has been paid, from and including the date of issuance. In the case of iStar Notes issued in the exchange offer, interest will accrue from September 1, 2004, which was the most recent interest payment date with respect to the iStar Notes.

The iStar Notes will not be entitled to the benefit of any mandatory sinking fund.

Redemption

At any time on or prior to March 1, 2014, the iStar Notes may be redeemed or purchased in whole but not in part at the Company's option at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus the Applicable Premium as of, and accrued but unpaid interest, if any, to the date of the redemption or purchase (the "Redemption Date") (subject to the right of Holders of record on the relevant record date to receive interest due on the relevant interest payment date). Such redemption or purchase may be made upon notice mailed by first-class mail to each Holder's registered address, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the Redemption Date.

"Applicable Premium" means, with respect to an iStar Note at any Redemption Date, the greater of: (1) 1.0% of the principal amount of such iStar Note; and (2) the excess of (a) the present value at such Redemption Date of (i) the principal amount of such iStar Note on March 1, 2014 plus (ii) all required remaining scheduled interest payments due on such iStar Note through March 1, 2014, computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury Rate plus 50 basis points; over (b) the principal amount of such iStar Note on such Redemption Date. Calculation of the Applicable Premium will be made by the Company or on behalf of the Company by such Person as the Company shall designate; provided, however, that such calculation shall not be a duty or obligation of the Trustee.

"Treasury Rate" means, with respect to a Redemption Date, the yield to maturity at the time of computation of United States Treasury securities with a constant maturity (as compiled and published in the most recent Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15(519) that has become publicly available at least two Business Days prior to such Redemption Date (or, if such Statistical Release is no longer published, any publicly available source of similar market data)) most nearly equal to the period from such Redemption Date to March 1, 2014; provided, however, that if the period from such Redemption Date to March 1, 2014 is not equal to the constant maturity of the United States Treasury security for which a weekly average yield is given, the Treasury Rate shall be obtained by linear interpolation (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth of a year) from the weekly average yields of United States Treasury securities for which such yields are given, except that if the period from such Redemption Date to March 1, 2014 is less than one year, the weekly average yield on actually traded United States Treasury securities adjusted to a constant maturity of one year shall be used.

Change of Control

Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, each Holder will have the right to require that the Company purchase all or a portion of such Holder's iStar Notes pursuant to the offer described below (the "Change of Control Offer"), at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the date of purchase.

Within 30 days following the date upon which the Change of Control occurred, the Company must send, by first class mail, a notice to each Holder, with a copy to the Trustee, which notice shall govern the terms of the Change of Control Offer. Such notice shall state, among other things, the purchase date, which must be no earlier than 30 days nor later than 60 days from the date such notice is mailed, other than as may be required by law (the "Change of Control Payment Date"). Holders electing to have an iStar Note purchased pursuant to a Change of Control Offer will be required to surrender the iStar Note, with the form entitled "Option of Holder to Elect Purchase" on the reverse of the iStar Note completed, to the Paying Agent at the address specified in the notice prior to the close of business on the third business day prior to the Change of Control Payment Date.

If a Change of Control Offer is made, we cannot assure you that the Company will have available funds sufficient to pay the Change of Control purchase price for all the iStar Notes that might be delivered by Holders seeking to accept the Change of Control Offer. In the event the Company is required to purchase outstanding iStar Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer, the Company expects that it would seek third party financing to the extent it does not have available funds to meet its purchase obligations. However, we cannot assure you that the Company would be able to obtain such financing.

Neither the Board of Directors of the Company nor the Trustee may waive the covenant relating to a Holder's right to redemption upon a Change of Control. Restrictions in the Indenture described herein on the ability of the Company and its Subsidiaries to incur additional Indebtedness, to grant liens on its property and to make Restricted Payments may also make more difficult or discourage a takeover of the Company, whether favored or opposed by the management of the Company. Consummation of any such transaction in certain circumstances may require redemption or repurchase

of the iStar Notes, and we cannot assure you that the Company or the acquiring party will have sufficient financial resources to effect such redemption or repurchase. Such restrictions and the restrictions on transactions with Affiliates may, in certain circumstances, make more difficult or discourage any leveraged buyout of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by the management of the Company. While such restrictions cover a wide variety of arrangements that have traditionally been used to effect highly leveraged transactions, the Indenture may not afford the Holders protection in all circumstances from the adverse aspects of a highly leveraged transaction, reorganization, restructuring, merger or similar transaction.

The Company will comply with the requirements of Rule 14e-1 under the Exchange Act and any other securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent such laws and regulations are applicable in connection with the repurchase of iStar Notes pursuant to a Change of Control Offer. To the extent that the provisions of any securities laws or regulations conflict with the "Change of Control" provisions of the Indenture, the Company shall comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and shall not be deemed to have breached its obligations under the "Change of Control" provisions of the Indenture by virtue thereof.

Certain Covenants

The Indenture contains, among others, the following covenants; provided that the Indenture provides that the covenants set forth below under the heading "Additional Covenants if the iStar Notes are Not Rated Investment Grade," including "Limitation on Liens," "Limitation on Restricted Payments," "Limitation on Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Subsidiaries," "Limitation on Preferred Stock of Subsidiaries," "Limitation of Guarantees by Subsidiaries," "Conduct of Business" and "Limitations on Transactions with Affiliates," will not be applicable in the event, and only for so long as, the iStar Notes are rated Investment Grade and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing. Since the iStar Notes are presently rated Investment Grade and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, these additional covenants are not currently in effect.

Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume, guarantee, become liable, contingently or otherwise, with respect to, or otherwise become responsible for payment of (collectively, "incur") any Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness) other than Permitted Indebtedness.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing at the time of or as a consequence of the incurrence of any such Indebtedness, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may incur Indebtedness (including, without limitation, Acquired Indebtedness), in each case if on the date of the incurrence of such Indebtedness, after giving effect to the incurrence thereof:

the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of the Company is greater than 1.50 to 1.0;

the ratio of the aggregate amount of Indebtedness outstanding on a consolidated basis to our Consolidated Net Worth is less than 5.0 to 1.0; and

the ratio of the aggregate amount of Senior Recourse Indebtedness outstanding on a consolidated basis to the sum of: (1) our Consolidated Net Worth; and (2) the aggregate amount of the Subordinated Indebtedness outstanding on a consolidated basis is less than 2.75 to 1.0; *provided*, *however*, that the aggregate principal amount of such Subordinated Indebtedness is not in excess of our Consolidated Net Worth.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will not permit TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. ("TriNet") or any of its Subsidiaries to incur Indebtedness (as defined in the indenture governing

TriNet's outstanding publicly held debt securities on the Measurement Date) if, immediately after giving effect to the incurrence of such Indebtedness and the application of the proceeds thereof, the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Indebtedness of TriNet and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis determined in accordance with GAAP is greater than 55% of the sum of (without duplication): (1) the Total Assets (as defined in the indenture governing TriNet's outstanding publicly-held debt securities on the Measurement Date) of TriNet and its Subsidiaries as of the end of the calendar quarter covered in TriNet's Annual Report on Form 10-K or Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as the case may be, most recently filed with the Commission (or, if such filing is not permitted under the Exchange Act, with the Trustee) prior to the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness; and (2) the purchase price of any real estate assets or mortgages receivable acquired, and the amount of any securities offering proceeds received (to the extent that such proceeds were not used to acquire real estate assets or mortgages receivable or used to reduce Indebtedness), by TriNet or any Subsidiary of TriNet since the end of such calendar quarter, including those proceeds obtained in connection with the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness. The above limitation shall terminate immediately upon TriNet ceasing to exist as a Subsidiary of the Company as a result of a merger or consolidation of TriNet with the Company or the sale, transfer, disposition or distribution of all or substantially all of TriNet's assets to the Company.

Maintenance of Total Unencumbered Assets. The Company and its Subsidiaries will maintain Total Unencumbered Assets of not less than 125% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Unsecured Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in each case on a consolidated basis.

Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets. The Company will not, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, consolidate or merge with or into any Person, or sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of (or cause or permit any Subsidiary of the Company to sell, assign, transfer, lease, convey or otherwise dispose of) all or substantially all of the Company's assets (determined on a consolidated basis for the Company and the Company's Subsidiaries) whether as an entirety or substantially as an entirety to any Person unless:

- (1) either:
 - (a) the Company shall be the surviving or continuing corporation; or
 - (b)
 the Person (if other than the Company) formed by such consolidation or into which the Company is merged or the
 Person which acquires by sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition the properties and
 assets of the Company and of the Company's Subsidiaries substantially as an entirety (the "Surviving Entity"):
 - shall be a corporation organized and validly existing under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or the District of Columbia; and
 - (ii) shall expressly assume, by supplemental indenture (in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee), executed and delivered to the Trustee, the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on all of the iStar Notes and the performance of every covenant of the iStar Notes and the Indenture on the part of the Company to be performed or observed;
- immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii) above (including giving effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred in connection with or in respect of such transaction), the Company or such Surviving Entity, as the case may be: (a) shall have a Consolidated Net Worth equal to or greater than the Consolidated Net Worth of the Company immediately prior to such transaction; and (b) shall be able to incur at least \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness (other than Permitted Indebtedness) pursuant to the "Limitation on

Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness" covenant; *provided*, *however*, that this clause (2) shall not apply in the event of a transaction between the Company and TriNet;

- immediately before and immediately after giving effect to such transaction and the assumption contemplated by clause (1)(b)(ii) above (including, without limitation, giving effect to any Indebtedness and Acquired Indebtedness incurred or anticipated to be incurred and any Lien granted in connection with or in respect of the transaction), no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred or be continuing; and
- the Company or the Surviving Entity shall have delivered to the Trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that such consolidation, merger, sale, assignment, transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition and, if a supplemental indenture is required in connection with such transaction, such supplemental indenture comply with the applicable provisions of the Indenture and that all conditions precedent in the Indenture relating to such transaction have been satisfied.

For purposes of the foregoing, the transfer (by lease, assignment, sale or otherwise, in a single transaction or series of transactions) of all or substantially all of the properties or assets of one or more Subsidiaries of the Company the Capital Stock of which constitutes all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company, shall be deemed to be the transfer of all or substantially all of the properties and assets of the Company.

The Indenture will provide that upon any consolidation or merger or any transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company in accordance with the foregoing, in which the Company is not the continuing corporation, the successor Person formed by such consolidation or into which the Company is merged or to which such transfer, lease, conveyance or other disposition is made shall succeed to, and be substituted for, and may exercise every right and power of, the Company under the Indenture and the iStar Notes with the same effect as if such surviving entity had been named as such.

Reports to Holders. Whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, so long as any iStar Notes are outstanding, the Company will furnish the Holders of iStar Notes:

- all quarterly and annual financial information that would be required to be contained in a filing with the Commission on Forms 10-Q and 10-K if the Company were required to file such Forms, including a "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" that describes the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries (showing in reasonable detail, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto and in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries) and, with respect to the annual information only, a report thereon by the Company's independent registered public accounting firm; and
- all current reports that would be required to be filed with the Commission on Form 8-K if the Company were required to file such reports, in each case within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and regulations.

In addition, whether or not required by the rules and regulations of the Commission, the Company will file a copy of all such information and reports with the Commission for public availability within the time periods specified in the Commission's rules and regulations (unless the Commission will not accept such a filing) and make such information available to securities analysts and prospective investors upon request. In addition, the Company has agreed that, for so long as any iStar Notes remain outstanding, it will furnish to the Holders and to securities analysts and prospective investors,

upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act.

Additional Covenants if the iStar Notes are not Rated Investment Grade

The Indenture provides that the following covenants will be operative if, and for so long as, the iStar Notes are not rated Investment Grade.

Limitation on Restricted Payments. The Company will not, and will not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly:

- (1)
 declare or pay any dividend or make any distribution (other than dividends or distributions payable in Qualified Capital Stock of the Company) on or in respect of shares of the Company's Capital Stock to holders of such Capital Stock;
- (2) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value any Capital Stock of the Company or any warrants, rights or options to purchase or acquire shares of any class of such Capital Stock; or
- make any principal payment on, purchase, defease, redeem, prepay, decrease or otherwise acquire or retire for value, prior to any scheduled final maturity, scheduled repayment or scheduled sinking fund payment, any Indebtedness of the Company that is subordinate or junior in right of payment to the Notes
- if at the time of such action (each, a "Restricted Payment") or immediately after giving effect thereto,
 - (i) a Default or an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing; or
 - (ii)
 the Company is not able to incur at least \$1.00 of additional Indebtedness (other than Permitted Indebtedness) in compliance with the limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness covenant; or
 - (iii)
 the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments (including such proposed Restricted Payment) made subsequent to the Measurement Date (the amount expended for such purposes, if other than in cash, being the fair market value of such property as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors of the Company) shall exceed the sum of:
 - (w)
 95% of the cumulative Consolidated Adjusted Earnings (or if cumulative Consolidated Adjusted Earnings shall be a loss, minus 100% of such loss) of the Company earned subsequent to June 30, 2001 and on or prior to the date the Restricted Payment occurs (the "Reference Date") (treating such period as a single accounting period); plus
 - (x)

 100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds received by the Company from any Person (other than a Subsidiary of the Company) from the issuance and sale subsequent to the Measurement Date and on or prior to the Reference Date of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company; plus
 - (y) without duplication of any amounts included in clause (iii)(x) above, 100% of the aggregate net cash proceeds of any equity contribution received by the Company from a holder of the Company's Capital Stock.

The foregoing provisions do not prohibit:

(1) the payment of any dividend within 60 days after the date of declaration of such dividend if the dividend would have been permitted on the date of declaration;

(2)

if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the acquisition of any shares of Capital Stock of the Company, either (i) solely in exchange for shares of Qualified

Capital Stock of the Company or (ii) through the application of net proceeds of a substantially concurrent sale for cash (other than to a Subsidiary of the Company) of shares of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company;

- if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the acquisition of any Indebtedness of the Company that is subordinate or junior in right of payment to the Notes either (i) solely in exchange for shares of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company, or (ii) through the application of net proceeds of a substantially concurrent sale for cash (other than to a Subsidiary of the Company) of (a) shares of Qualified Capital Stock of the Company or (b) Refinancing Indebtedness;
- (4) so long as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, repurchases by the Company of Common Stock of the Company from employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their authorized representatives upon the death, disability or termination of employment of such employees, in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$500,000 in any calendar year;
- (5)
 the declaration or payment by the Company of any dividend or distribution that is necessary to maintain its status as a REIT under the Code if:
 - (a) the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of the Company is greater than 2.0 to 1.0; and
 - (b) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;
- (6)
 the payment of any dividend on Preferred Stock of the Company; and
- (7) Restricted Payments in an amount not to exceed \$75.0 million.

In determining the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made subsequent to the Measurement Date in accordance with clause (iii) of the immediately preceding paragraph, amounts expended pursuant to clauses (1), (2) (ii), 3 (ii) (a), (4), (5) and (7) shall be included in such calculation.

Limitation on Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Subsidiaries. The Company shall not, and shall not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create or otherwise cause or permit to exist or become effective any encumbrance or restriction on the ability of any Subsidiary of the Company to:

- pay dividends or make any other distributions on or in respect of its Capital Stock;
- (2) make loans or advances or to pay any Indebtedness or other obligation owed to the Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company; or
- transfer any of its property or assets to the Company or any other Subsidiary of the Company,

except for such encumbrances or restrictions existing under or by reason of:

- (a) applicable law;
- (b) the Indenture;
- (c)
 customary non-assignment provisions of any contract or any lease governing a leasehold interest of any Subsidiary of the Company;
- (d)

any instrument governing Acquired Indebtedness, which encumbrance or restriction is not applicable to any Person, or the properties or assets of any Person, other than the Person or the properties or assets of the Person so acquired;

(e) agreements existing on the Measurement Date to the extent and in the manner such agreements are in effect on the Measurement Date;

40

- (f) provisions of any agreement governing Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this Indenture that impose such encumbrances or restrictions upon the occurrence of a default or failure to meet financial covenants or conditions under the agreement;
- (g)
 restrictions on the transfer of assets (other than cash) held in a Subsidiary of the Company imposed under any agreement governing Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this Indenture;
- (h) provisions of any agreement governing Indebtedness incurred in accordance with this Indenture that require a Subsidiary to service its debt obligations before making dividends, distributions or advancements in respect of its Capital Stock;
- (i) an agreement governing Indebtedness incurred to Refinance the Indebtedness issued, assumed or incurred pursuant to an agreement referred to in clause (b), (d) or (e) above; *provided*, *however*, that the provisions relating to such encumbrance or restriction contained in any such Indebtedness are not materially less favorable to the Company in any material respect as determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in their reasonable and good faith judgment than the provisions relating to such encumbrance or restriction contained in agreements referred to in such clause (b), (d) or (e).

Limitation on Transactions with Affiliates. The Company will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, enter into or permit to exist any transaction or series of related transactions (including, without limitation, the purchase, sale, lease or exchange of any property or the rendering of any service) with, or for the benefit of, any of its Affiliates (each an "Affiliate Transaction"), other than:

(1) Affiliate Transactions permitted as described below; and (2) Affiliate Transactions on terms that are no less favorable than those that might reasonably have been obtained in a comparable transaction at such time on an arm's-length basis from a Person that is not an Affiliate of the Company or such Subsidiary.

All Affiliate Transactions (and each series of related Affiliate Transactions which are similar or part of a common plan) involving aggregate payments or other property with a fair market value in excess of \$5.0 million shall be approved by the Board of Directors of the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, such approval to be evidenced by a Board Resolution stating that such Board of Directors has determined that such transaction complies with the foregoing provisions. If the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company enters into an Affiliate Transaction (or a series of related Affiliate Transactions related to a common plan) that involves an aggregate fair market value of more than \$10.0 million, the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, shall, prior to the consummation thereof, obtain a favorable opinion as to the fairness of such transaction or series of related transactions to the Company or the relevant Subsidiary, as the case may be, from a financial point of view, from an Independent Financial Advisor and file the same with the Trustee.

The restrictions set forth in the first paragraph of this covenant shall not apply to:

- reasonable fees and compensation paid to and indemnity provided on behalf of, officers, directors, employees or consultants of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company as determined in good faith by the Company's Board of Directors or senior management;
- (2) transactions exclusively between or among the Company and any of its Subsidiaries or exclusively between or among such Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, *provided* such transactions are not otherwise prohibited by this Indenture;
- transactions between the Company or one of its Subsidiaries and any Person in which the Company or one of its Subsidiaries has made an Investment in the ordinary course of the Company's real estate lending business and such Person is an Affiliate solely because of such Investment;

- (4) transactions between the Company or one of its Subsidiaries and any Person in which the Company or one of its Subsidiaries holds an interest as a joint venture partner and such Person is an Affiliate solely because of such interest;
- any agreement as in effect as of the Measurement Date or any amendment thereto or any transaction contemplated thereby (including pursuant to any amendment thereto) in any replacement agreement thereto so long as any such amendment or replacement agreement is not more disadvantageous to the Holders in any material respect than the original agreement as in effect on the Measurement Date; and
- (6) Restricted Payments permitted by the Indenture.

Limitation on Liens. The Company shall not, and shall not cause or permit any of its Subsidiaries to, directly or indirectly, create, incur, assume or permit or suffer to exist any Liens of any kind on the assets of the Company securing Indebtedness of the Company unless:

- (1) in the case of Liens securing Indebtedness of the Company that is expressly subordinate or junior in right of payment to the Notes, the Notes are secured by a Lien on such property, assets or proceeds that is senior in priority to such Liens; and
- (2) in all other cases, the Notes are equally and ratably secured except for:
 - (a)

 Liens existing as of the Measurement Date to the extent and in the manner such Liens are in effect on the Measurement Date;
 - (b) Liens securing the Notes;
 - Liens securing Refinancing Indebtedness that is incurred to Refinance any Indebtedness that has been secured by a Lien permitted under this Indenture and that has been incurred in accordance with the provisions of this Indenture; *provided*, *however*, that such Liens: (i) are no less favorable to the Holders than the Liens in respect of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; and (ii) do not extend to or cover any property or assets of the Company not securing the Indebtedness so Refinanced; and
 - (d) Permitted Liens.

Limitation on Preferred Stock of Subsidiaries. The Company will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to issue any Preferred Stock (other than to the Company or to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company) or permit any Person (other than the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company) to own any Preferred Stock of any Subsidiary of the Company, other than Preferred Stock outstanding on the Measurement Date of Subsidiaries formed to facilitate maintaining the Company's REIT status.

Conduct of Business. The Company and its Subsidiaries will engage primarily in the financing and real-estate related businesses contemplated by Article III(b) of the Company's Amended and Restated Charter as in effect on the Measurement Date and other activities related to or arising out of those activities.

Limitation of Guarantees by Subsidiaries. The Company will not permit any of its Subsidiaries, directly or indirectly, by way of the pledge of any intercompany note or otherwise, to assume, guarantee or in any other manner become liable with respect to any Indebtedness of the Company, unless, in any such case:

(1) such Subsidiary executes and delivers a supplemental indenture to this Indenture, providing a guarantee of payment of the Notes by such Subsidiary; and

if such assumption, guarantee or other liability of such Subsidiary is provided in respect of Indebtedness that is expressly subordinated to the Notes, the guarantee or other instrument provided by such Subsidiary in respect of such subordinated Indebtedness shall be subordinated to the Guarantee pursuant to subordination provisions no less favorable to the Holders of the Notes than those contained in this Indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such Guarantee by a Subsidiary of the Notes shall provide by its terms that it shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged, without any further action required on the part of the Trustee or any Holder, upon:

- (1)
 the unconditional release of such Subsidiary from its liability in respect of the Indebtedness in connection with which such Guarantee was executed and delivered pursuant to the preceding paragraph; or
- any sale or other disposition (by merger or otherwise) to any Person that is not a Subsidiary of the Company of all of the Company's Capital Stock in, or all or substantially all of the assets of, such Subsidiary; *provided* that: (a) such sale or disposition of such Capital Stock or assets is otherwise in compliance with the terms of the Indenture; and (b) such assumption, guarantee or other liability of such Subsidiary has been released by the holders of the other Indebtedness so guaranteed.

Events of Default

The following events are defined in the Indenture as "Events of Default":

- (1) the failure to pay interest on any iStar Notes when the same becomes due and payable and the default continues for a period of 30 days;
- (2) the failure to pay the principal on any iStar Notes, when such principal becomes due and payable, at maturity or otherwise (including the failure to make a payment to purchase iStar Notes tendered pursuant to a Change of Control Offer);
- a default in the observance or performance of any other covenant or agreement contained in the Indenture and such default continues for a period of 30 days after the Company receives written notice specifying the default (and demanding that such default be remedied) from the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% of the outstanding principal amount of the iStar Notes (except in the case of a default with respect to the "Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets" covenant, which will constitute an Event of Default with such notice requirement but without such passage of time requirement);
- the failure to pay at final maturity (giving effect to any applicable grace periods and any extensions thereof) the principal amount of any Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or the acceleration of the final stated maturity of any such Indebtedness (which acceleration is not rescinded, annulled or otherwise cured within 20 days of receipt by the Company or such Subsidiary of notice of any such acceleration) if the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at final maturity or which has been accelerated, aggregates \$20.0 million or more at any time;
- one or more judgments in an aggregate amount in excess of \$20.0 million shall have been rendered against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and such judgments remain undischarged, unpaid or unstayed for a period of 60 days after such judgment or judgments become final and non-appealable (other than any judgments as to which, and only to the extent, a reputable insurance company has acknowledged coverage of such judgments in writing); or
- (6) certain events of bankruptcy affecting the Company or any of its Significant Subsidiaries.

If an Event of Default (other than an Event of Default specified in clause (6) above with respect to the Company) shall occur and be continuing, the Trustee or the Holders of at least 25% in principal amount of outstanding iStar Notes may declare the principal of and accrued interest on all the iStar Notes to be due and payable by notice in writing to the Company and the Trustee specifying the respective Event of Default and that it is a "notice of acceleration" (the "Acceleration Notice"), and the same shall become immediately due and payable.

If an Event of Default specified in clause (6) above with respect to the Company occurs and is continuing, then all unpaid principal of, and premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest on all of the outstanding iStar Notes shall ipso facto become and be immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the Trustee or any Holder.

The Indenture will provide that, at any time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to the iStar Notes as described in the preceding paragraph, the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the iStar Notes may rescind and cancel such declaration and its consequences:

- if the rescission would not conflict with any judgment or decree;
- (2) if all existing Events of Default have been cured or waived except nonpayment of principal or interest that has become due solely because of the acceleration;
- (3) to the extent the payment of such interest is lawful, interest on overdue installments of interest and overdue principal, which has become due otherwise than by such declaration of acceleration, has been paid;
- (4) if the Company has paid the Trustee its reasonable compensation and reimbursed the Trustee for its expenses, disbursements and advances; and
- in the event of the cure or waiver of an Event of Default of the type described in clause (6) of the description above of Events of Default, the Trustee shall have received an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel that such Event of Default has been cured or waived. No such rescission shall affect any subsequent Default or impair any right consequent thereto.

The Holders of a majority in principal amount of the iStar Notes may waive any existing Default or Event of Default under the Indenture, and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the principal of or interest on any iStar Notes.

Holders of the iStar Notes may not enforce the Indenture or the iStar Notes except as provided in the Indenture and under the TIA. Subject to the provisions of the Indenture relating to the duties of the Trustee, the Trustee is under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the Indenture at the request, order or direction of any of the Holders, unless such Holders have offered to the Trustee reasonable indemnity. Subject to all provisions of the Indenture and applicable law, the Holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding iStar Notes have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the Trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the Trustee.

Under the Indenture, the Company is required to provide an officers' certificate to the Trustee promptly upon any such officer obtaining knowledge of any Default or Event of Default (*provided* that such officers shall provide such certification at least annually whether or not they know of any Default or Event of Default) that has occurred and, if applicable, describe such Default or Event of Default and the status thereof.

Legal Defeasance and Covenant Defeasance

The Company may, at its option and at any time, elect to have its obligations discharged with respect to the outstanding iStar Notes ("Legal Defeasance"). Such Legal Defeasance means that the

Company shall be deemed to have paid and discharged the entire indebtedness represented by the outstanding iStar Notes, except for:

- (1) the rights of Holders to receive payments in respect of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the iStar Notes when such payments are due;
- (2) the Company's obligations with respect to the iStar Notes concerning issuing temporary iStar Notes, registration of iStar Notes, mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen iStar Notes and the maintenance of an office or agency for payments;
- (3) the rights, powers, trust, duties and immunities of the Trustee and the Company's obligations in connection therewith; and
- (4) the Legal Defeasance provisions of the Indenture.

In addition, the Company may, at its option and at any time, elect to have the obligations of the Company released with respect to certain covenants that are described in the Indenture ("Covenant Defeasance") and thereafter any omission to comply with such obligations shall not constitute a Default or Event of Default with respect to the iStar Notes. In the event Covenant Defeasance occurs, certain events (not including non-payment, bankruptcy, receivership, reorganization and insolvency events) described under "Events of Default" will no longer constitute an Event of Default with respect to the iStar Notes.

In order to exercise either Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance:

- the Company must irrevocably deposit with the Trustee, in trust, for the benefit of the Holders cash in U.S. dollars, non-callable U.S. government obligations, or a combination thereof, in such amounts as will be sufficient, in the opinion of a nationally recognized independent registered public accounting firm, to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the iStar Notes on the stated date for payment thereof;
- (2) in the case of Legal Defeasance, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an opinion of counsel in the United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that:
 - (a) the Company has received from, or there has been published by, the Internal Revenue Service a ruling; or
 - (b) since the date of the Indenture, there has been a change in the applicable federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion of counsel shall confirm that, the Holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Legal Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Legal Defeasance had not occurred;
- in the case of Covenant Defeasance, the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an opinion of counsel in the United States reasonably acceptable to the Trustee confirming that the Holders will not recognize income, gain or loss for federal income tax purposes as a result of such Covenant Defeasance and will be subject to federal income tax on the same amounts, in the same manner and at the same times as would have been the case if such Covenant Defeasance had not occurred;
- (4)
 no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such deposit or insofar as Events of
 Default from bankruptcy or insolvency events are concerned, at any time in the period ending on the 91st day after the date
 of deposit;
- (5) such Legal Defeasance or Covenant Defeasance shall not result in a breach or violation of, or constitute a default under the Indenture or any other material agreement or instrument to

which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound;

- (6)
 the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an officers' certificate stating that the deposit was not made by the
 Company with the intent of preferring the Holders over any other creditors of the Company or with the intent of defeating,
 hindering, delaying or defrauding any other creditors of the Company or others;
- (7)
 the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel, each stating that all conditions precedent provided for or relating to the Legal Defeasance or the Covenant Defeasance have been complied with;
- the Company shall have delivered to the Trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that, assuming no intervening bankruptcy of the Company between the date of deposit and the 91st day following the date of deposit and that no Holder is an insider of the Company, after the 91st day following the date of deposit, the trust funds will not be subject to the effect of any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally; and
- (9) certain other customary conditions precedent are satisfied.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the opinion of counsel required by clause (2) above with respect to a Legal Defeasance need not be delivered if all iStar Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation (1) have become due and payable or (2) will become due and payable on the maturity date within one year under arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for the giving of notice of redemption by the Trustee in the name, and at the expense, of the Company.

Satisfaction and Discharge

The Indenture will be discharged and will cease to be of further effect (except as to surviving rights or registration of transfer or exchange of the iStar Notes, as expressly provided for in the Indenture) as to all outstanding iStar Notes when:

- (1) either:
 - (a)

 all the iStar Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered (except lost, stolen or destroyed iStar Notes that have been replaced or paid and iStar Notes for whose payment money has theretofore been deposited in trust or segregated and held in trust by the Company and thereafter repaid to the Company or discharged from such trust) have been delivered to the Trustee for cancellation; or
 - (b)

 all iStar Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation have become due and payable and the Company has irrevocably deposited or caused to be deposited with the Trustee funds in an amount sufficient to pay and discharge the entire Indebtedness on the iStar Notes not theretofore delivered to the Trustee for cancellation, for principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the iStar Notes to the date of deposit together with irrevocable instructions from the Company directing the Trustee to apply such funds to the payment thereof at maturity;
- (2) the Company has paid all other sums payable under the Indenture by the Company; and
- (3) the Company has delivered to the Trustee an officers' certificate and an opinion of counsel stating that all conditions precedent under the Indenture relating to the satisfaction and discharge of the Indenture have been complied with.

Modification of the Indenture

From time to time, the Company and the Trustee, without the consent of the Holders, may amend the Indenture for certain specified purposes, including curing ambiguities, defects or inconsistencies, so long as such change does not, in the opinion of the Trustee, adversely affect the rights of any of the Holders in any material respect. In formulating its opinion on such matters, the Trustee will be entitled to rely on such evidence as it deems appropriate, including, without limitation, solely on an opinion of counsel. Other modifications and amendments of the Indenture may be made with the consent of the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding iStar Notes issued under the Indenture, except that, without the consent of each Holder affected thereby, no amendment may:

- (1) reduce the amount of iStar Notes whose Holders must consent to an amendment;
- (2)
 reduce the rate of or change or have the effect of changing the time for payment of interest, including defaulted interest, on any iStar Notes;
- (3) reduce the principal of or change or have the effect of changing the fixed maturity of any iStar Notes;
- (4) make any iStar Notes payable in money other than that stated in the iStar Notes;
- make any change in provisions of the Indenture protecting the right of each Holder to receive payment of principal of and interest on such iStar Note on or after the due date thereof or to bring suit to enforce such payment, or permitting Holders of a majority in principal amount of iStar Notes to waive Defaults or Events of Default;
- after the Company's obligation to purchase iStar Notes arises thereunder, amend, change or modify in any material respect the obligation of the Company to make and consummate a Change of Control Offer in the event of a Change of Control or, after such Change of Control has occurred, modify any of the provisions or definitions with respect thereto; or
- (7) modify or change any provision of the Indenture or the related definitions affecting the subordination or ranking of the iStar Notes in a manner which adversely affects the Holders.

Governing Law

The Indenture will provide that it and the iStar Notes will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York but without giving effect to applicable principles of conflicts of law to the extent that the application of the law of another jurisdiction would be required thereby.

The Trustee

The Indenture will provide that, except during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Trustee will perform only such duties as are specifically set forth in the Indenture. During the existence of an Event of Default, the Trustee will exercise such rights and powers vested in it by the Indenture, and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent man would exercise or use under the circumstances in the conduct of his own affairs.

The Indenture and the provisions of the TIA contain certain limitations on the rights of the Trustee, should it become a creditor of the Company, to obtain payments of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received in respect of any such claim as security or otherwise. Subject to the TIA, the Trustee will be permitted to engage in other transactions; *provided* that if the Trustee acquires any conflicting interest as described in the TIA, it must eliminate such conflict or resign.

Certain Definitions

Set forth below is a summary of certain of the defined terms used in the Indenture. Reference is made to the Indenture for the full definition of all such terms, as well as any other terms used herein for which no definition is provided.

"Acquired Indebtedness" means Indebtedness of a Person or any of its Subsidiaries existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary of the Company or at the time it merges or consolidates with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or assumed in connection with the acquisition of assets from such Person and in each case whether or not incurred by such Person in connection with, or in anticipation or contemplation of, such Person becoming a Subsidiary of the Company or such acquisition, merger or consolidation.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person who directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such specified Person. The term "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise; and the terms "controlling" and "controlled" have meanings correlative of the foregoing.

"Asset Acquisition" means: (1) an Investment by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company in any other Person pursuant to which such Person shall become a Subsidiary of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or shall be merged with or into the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company; or (2) the acquisition by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of the assets of any Person (other than a Subsidiary of the Company) that constitute all or substantially all of the assets of such Person or comprises any division or line of business of such Person or any other properties or assets of such Person other than in the ordinary course of business.

"Asset Sale" means any direct or indirect sale, issuance, conveyance, transfer, lease (other than operating leases entered into in the ordinary course of business), assignment or other transfer for value by us or any of our Subsidiaries (including any sale and leaseback transaction) to any Person other than us or our Wholly Owned Subsidiaries of:

- (1) any Capital Stock of any of our Subsidiaries; or
- any of our or our Subsidiaries' other property or assets other than sales of loan-related assets made in the ordinary course of the Company's real estate lending business and other asset sales made in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

"Board of Directors" means, as to any Person, the board of directors of such Person or any duly authorized committee thereof.

"Board Resolution" means, with respect to any Person, a copy of a resolution certified by the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of such Person to have been duly adopted by the Board of Directors of such Person and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification, and delivered to the Trustee.

"Capitalized Lease Obligation" means, as to any Person, the obligations of such Person under a lease that are required to be classified and accounted for as capital lease obligations under GAAP and, for purposes of this definition, the amount of such obligations at any date shall be the capitalized amount of such obligations at such date, determined in accordance with GAAP.

"Capital Stock" means:

(1) with respect to any Person that is a corporation, any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated and whether or not voting) of corporate stock, including each class of Common Stock and Preferred Stock of such Person; and

(2) with respect to any Person that is not a corporation, any and all partnership, membership or other equity interests of such Person.

"Change of Control" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events:

- any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company to any Person or group of related Persons for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act (a "Group"), together with any Affiliates thereof (whether or not otherwise in compliance with the provisions of the Indenture) other than to the Permitted Holders;
- (2) the approval by the holders of Capital Stock of the Company of any plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Company (whether or not otherwise in compliance with the provisions of the Indenture);
- any Person or Group (other than the Permitted Holders) shall become the owner, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, of shares representing more than 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Capital Stock of the Company; *provided*, *however*, that no Change of Control shall be deemed to have occurred as a result of the sale or transfer by the Permitted Holders of shares of Capital Stock of the Company representing more than 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Capital Stock of the Company to a Person or Group, whether in one transaction or a series of related transactions, that has an investment grade senior unsecured credit rating from both of Moody's and S&P and the Company's senior unsecured ratings from Moody's and S&P are the same or better immediately following such sale or transfer as before such sale or transfer; or
- the replacement of a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company over a two-year period from the directors who constituted the Board of Directors of the Company at the beginning of such period, and such replacement shall not have been approved by a vote of at least a majority of the Board of Directors of the Company then still in office who either were members of such Board of Directors at the beginning of such period or whose election as a member of such Board of Directors was previously so approved.

"Common Stock" of any Person means any and all shares, interests or other participations in, and other equivalents (however designated and whether voting or non-voting) of such Person's common stock, whether outstanding on the Measurement Date or issued after the Measurement Date, and includes, without limitation, all series and classes of such common stock.

"Consolidated Adjusted Earnings" with respect to any Person, for any period, means the Consolidated Net Income, less dividend payments on Preferred Stock, plus depreciation and amortization (including the Company's share of joint venture depreciation and amortization).

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the sum (without duplication) of:

- (1) Consolidated Net Income; and
- (2) to the extent Consolidated Net Income has been reduced thereby:
 - (a) all income taxes of such Person and its Subsidiaries paid or accrued in accordance with GAAP for such period (other than income taxes attributable to extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the Company's assets);
 - (b) Consolidated Interest Expense; and
 - (c) depreciation and amortization;

all as determined on a consolidated basis for such Person and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" means, with respect to any Person, the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA of such Person during the four full fiscal quarters (the "Four Quarter Period") ending prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for which financial statements are available (the "Transaction Date") to Consolidated Fixed Charges of such Person for the Four Quarter Period. In addition to and without limitation of the foregoing, for purposes of this definition, "Consolidated EBITDA" and "Consolidated Fixed Charges" shall be calculated after giving effect on a pro forma basis for the period of such calculation to:

- the incurrence or repayment of any Indebtedness of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries (and the application of the proceeds thereof) giving rise to the need to make such calculation and any incurrence or repayment of other Indebtedness (and the application of the proceeds thereof), other than the incurrence or repayment of Indebtedness in the ordinary course of business for working capital purposes pursuant to working capital facilities, occurring during the Four Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the Transaction Date, as if such incurrence or repayment, as the case may be (and the application of the proceeds thereof), occurred on the first day of the Four Quarter Period; and
- any asset sales or other dispositions or any asset originations, asset purchases, Investments and Asset Acquisitions (including, without limitation, any Asset Acquisition giving rise to the need to make such calculation as a result of such Person or one of its Subsidiaries (including any Person who becomes a Subsidiary as a result of the Asset Acquisition) incurring, assuming or otherwise being liable for Acquired Indebtedness and also including any Consolidated EBITDA (including any pro forma expense and cost reductions calculated on a basis consistent with Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act) attributable to the assets which are originated or purchased, the Investments that are made and the assets that are the subject of the Asset Acquisition or asset sale or other disposition during the Four Quarter Period) occurring during the Four Quarter Period or at any time subsequent to the last day of the Four Quarter Period and on or prior to the Transaction Date, as if such asset sale or other disposition or asset origination, asset purchase, Investment or Asset Acquisition (including the incurrence, assumption or liability for any such Acquired Indebtedness) occurred on the first day of the Four Quarter Period. If such Person or any of its Subsidiaries directly or indirectly guarantees Indebtedness of a third Person, the preceding sentence shall give effect to the incurrence of such guaranteed Indebtedness.

"Consolidated Fixed Charges" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:

- (1) Consolidated Interest Expense; plus
- the amount of all dividend payments on any series of Preferred Stock of such Person and, to the extent permitted under the Indenture, its Subsidiaries (other than dividends paid in Qualified Capital Stock) paid, accrued or scheduled to be paid or accrued during such period.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum of, without duplication:

(1) the aggregate of the interest expense of such Person and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, including without limitation: (a) any amortization of debt discount; (b) the net costs under Interest Swap Obligations;

(c) all capitalized interest; and (d) the interest portion of any deferred payment obligation; and

(2) to the extent not already included in clause (1), the interest component of Capitalized Lease Obligations paid, accrued and/or scheduled to be paid or accrued by such Person and its Subsidiaries during such period as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, with respect to any Person, for any period, the aggregate net income (or loss) of such Person and its Subsidiaries before the payment of dividends on Preferred Stock for such period on a consolidated basis, determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that there shall be excluded therefrom:

- (1) after-tax gains and losses from Asset Sales or abandonments or reserves relating thereto (including gains and losses from the sale of corporate tenant lease assets);
- (2) after-tax items classified as extraordinary gains or losses and direct impairment charges or the reversal of such charges on the Company's assets;
- the net income (but not loss) of any Subsidiary of the referent Person to the extent that the declaration of dividends or similar distributions by that Subsidiary of that income is restricted by a contract, operation of law or otherwise, except for such restrictions permitted by clauses (f), (g) and (h) of the "Limitation on Dividend and Other Payment Restrictions Affecting Subsidiaries" covenant, whether such permitted restrictions exist on the Measurement Date or are created thereafter;
- (4) the net income or loss of any other Person, other than a Consolidated Subsidiary of the referent Person, except:
 - (a)
 to the extent (in the case of net income) of cash dividends or distributions paid to the referent Person, or to a
 Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the referent Person (other than a Subsidiary described in clause (3) above), by such
 other Person; or
 - (b)
 that the referent Person's share of any net income or loss of such other Person under the equity method of accounting for Affiliates shall not be excluded;
- (5)
 any restoration to income of any contingency reserve of an extraordinary, nonrecurring or unusual nature, except to the extent that provision for such reserve was made out of Consolidated Net Income accrued at any time following the Measurement Date;
- income or loss attributable to discontinued operations (including, without limitation, operations disposed of during such period whether or not such operations were classified as discontinued, but not including revenues, expenses, gains and losses relating to real estate properties sold or held for sale, even if they were classified as attributable to discontinued operations under the provisions of SFAS No. 144); and
- in the case of a successor to the referent Person by consolidation or merger or as a transferee of the referent Person's assets, any earnings of the successor corporation prior to such consolidation, merger or transfer of assets.

"Consolidated Net Worth" of any Person means the consolidated stockholders' equity of such Person, as of the end of the last completed fiscal quarter ending on or prior to the date of the transaction giving rise to the need to calculate Consolidated Net Worth determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP, less (without duplication) amounts attributable to Disqualified Capital Stock of such Person and interests in such Person's Consolidated Subsidiaries not owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person.

"Consolidated Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, a Subsidiary of such Person, the financial statements of which are consolidated with the financial statements of such Person in accordance with GAAP.

"Currency Agreement" means any foreign exchange contract, currency swap agreement or other similar agreement or arrangement designed to protect the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company against fluctuations in currency values.

"Default" means an event or condition the occurrence of which is, or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would be, an Event of Default.

"Disqualified Capital Stock" means that portion of any Capital Stock that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable at the option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event (other than an event which would constitute a Change of Control), matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof (except, in each case, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control) on or prior to the final maturity date of the iStar Notes.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor statute or statutes thereto.

"Existing Credit Agreements" mean: (1) the Credit Agreement dated as of July 26, 2001, between the Company, the lenders party thereto in their capacities as lenders thereunder and Bank of America, N.A., as agent; (2) the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 28, 2000 between SFI II, Inc. and Greenwich Capital Markets, Inc., as lender; (3) the credit facility between Deutsche Bank AG, New York Branch, and iStar DB Seller LLC, dated as of January 11, 2001; (4) the credit facility, dated as of August 12, 1998, between Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. and SFT Whole Loan A, Inc.; and (5) the Master Repurchase Agreement dated September 30, 2002 between Goldman Sachs Mortgage Company and iStar Finance Sub V LLC in each case, together with the related documents thereto (including, without limitation, any security documents), in each case as such agreements may be amended (including any amendment and restatement thereof), supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, including any agreement extending the maturity of, refinancing, replacing or otherwise restructuring (including increasing the amount of available borrowings thereunder (provided that such increase in borrowings is permitted by the "Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness" covenant above) or adding Subsidiaries of the Company as additional borrowers or guarantors thereunder) all or any portion of the Indebtedness under such agreement or any successor or replacement agreement and whether by the same or any other agent, lender or group of lenders.

"Fair market value" means, with respect to any asset or property, the price which could be negotiated in an arm's-length, free market transaction, for cash, between a willing seller and a willing and able buyer, neither of whom is under undue pressure or compulsion to complete the transaction. Fair market value shall be determined by the Board of Directors of the Company acting reasonably and in good faith and shall be evidenced by a Board Resolution of the Board of Directors of the Company delivered to the Trustee.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or in such other statements by such other entity as may be approved by a significant segment of the accounting profession of the United States, which are in effect as of the Measurement Date. For the avoidance of doubt, revenues, expenses, gains and losses that are included in results of discontinued operations because of the application of SFAS No. 144 will be treated as revenues, expenses, gains and losses from continuing operations.

"Guarantor" means: each of the Company's Subsidiaries that in the future executes a supplemental indenture in which such Subsidiary agrees to be bound by the terms of the Indenture as a Guarantor; provided that any Person constituting a Guarantor as described above shall cease to constitute a Guarantor when its respective Guarantee is released in accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

"Indebtedness" means with respect to any Person, without duplication:

- (1) all Obligations of such Person for borrowed money;
- (2) all Obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments;
- (3) all Capitalized Lease Obligations of such Person;
- (4)
 all Obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations and all Obligations under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business that are not overdue by 90 days or more or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings promptly instituted and diligently conducted);
- (5) all Obligations for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar credit transaction;
- (6) guarantees and other contingent obligations in respect of Indebtedness referred to in clauses (1) through (5) above and clause (8) below;
- (7)
 all Obligations of any other Person of the type referred to in clauses (1) through (6) above which are secured by any lien on any property or asset of such Person, the amount of such Obligation being deemed to be the lesser of the fair market value of such property or asset and the amount of the Obligation so secured;
- (8) all Obligations under Currency Agreements and Interest Swap Obligations of such Person; and
- (9) all Disqualified Capital Stock issued by such Person with the amount of Indebtedness represented by such Disqualified Capital Stock being equal to the greater of its voluntary or involuntary liquidation preference and its maximum fixed repurchase price, but excluding accrued dividends, if any.

For purposes hereof, the "maximum fixed repurchase price" of any Disqualified Capital Stock which does not have a fixed repurchase price shall be calculated in accordance with the terms of such Disqualified Capital Stock as if such Disqualified Capital Stock were purchased on any date on which Indebtedness shall be required to be determined pursuant to the Indenture, and if such price is based upon, or measured by, the fair market value of such Disqualified Capital Stock, such fair market value shall be determined reasonably and in good faith by the Board of Directors of the issuer of such Disqualified Capital Stock.

"Independent Financial Advisor" means a firm: (1) that does not, and whose directors, officers and employees or Affiliates do not, have a direct or indirect financial interest in the Company; and (2) that, in the judgment of the Board of Directors of the Company, is otherwise independent and qualified to perform the task for which it is to be engaged.

"Interest Swap Obligations" means the obligations of any Person pursuant to any arrangement with any other Person, whereby, directly or indirectly, such Person is entitled to receive from time to time periodic payments calculated by applying either a floating or a fixed rate of interest on a stated notional amount in exchange for periodic payments made by such other Person calculated by applying a fixed or a floating rate of interest on the same notional amount and shall include, without limitation, interest rate swaps, caps, floors, collars and similar agreements.

"Investment" means, with respect to any Person, any direct or indirect loan or other extension of credit (including, without limitation, a guarantee), or corporate tenant lease to or capital contribution

to (by means of any transfer of cash or other property to others or any payment for property or services for the account or use of others), or any purchase or acquisition by such Person of any Capital Stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities or evidences or Indebtedness issued by, any Person. "Investment" shall exclude extensions of trade credit by us and our Subsidiaries on commercially reasonable terms in accordance with our or our Subsidiaries' normal trade practices, as the case may be.

"Investment Grade" means a rating of the iStar Notes by both S&P and Moody's, each such rating being one of such agency's four highest generic rating categories that signifies investment grade (i.e. BBB- (or the equivalent) or higher by S&P and Baa3 (or the equivalent) or higher by Moody's); provided, in each case, such ratings are publicly available; provided, further, that in the event Moody's or S&P is no longer in existence for purposes of determining whether the iStar Notes are rated "Investment Grade," such organization may be replaced by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization (as defined in Rule 436 under the Securities Act) designated by the Company, notice of which shall be given to the Trustee.

"Lien" means any lien, mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof and any agreement to give any security interest).

"Measurement Date" means August 16, 2001.

"Non-Recourse Indebtedness" means any of our or any of our Subsidiaries' Indebtedness that is:

- specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of investment assets and secured only by the assets to which such Indebtedness relates without recourse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes);
- advanced to any of our Subsidiaries or group of our Subsidiaries formed for the sole purpose of acquiring or holding investment assets against, which a loan is obtained that is made without recourse to, and with no cross-collateralization against our or any of the Company's Subsidiaries' other assets (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes) and upon complete or partial liquidation of which the loan must be correspondingly completely or partially repaid, as the case may be; or
- specifically advanced to finance the acquisition of real property and secured by only the real property to which such Indebtedness relates without recourse to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than subject to such customary carve-out matters for which the Company or its Subsidiaries acts as a guarantor in connection with such Indebtedness, such as fraud, misappropriation and misapplication, unless, until and for so long as a claim for payment or performance has been made thereunder (which has not been satisfied) at which time the obligations with respect to any such customary carve-out shall not be considered Non-Recourse Indebtedness, to the extent that such claim is a liability of the Company for GAAP purposes).

"Obligations" means all obligations for principal, premium, interest, penalties, fees, indemnification, reimbursements, damages and other liabilities payable under the documentation governing any Indebtedness.

"Permitted Holder(s)" means SOFI-IV SMT Holdings, L.L.C., Starwood Capital Group, L.L.C. and each of their respective Affiliates.

"Permitted Indebtedness" means, without duplication, each of the following:

- Indebtedness under: (a) the Notes issued on March 9, 2004, (b) the Company's \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Senior Notes due 2009 that were issued on January 23, 2004, (c) the Company's \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.0% Senior Notes due 2010 that were issued on December 12, 2003, (d) the Company's \$150.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.5% Senior Notes due 2013 that were issued on December 12, 2003, (e) the Company's \$350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 8³/4% Senior Notes due 2008 that were issued on the Measurement Date and (f) the Company's \$185.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.0% Senior Notes due 2008 that were issued in March and April of 2003:
- Indebtedness incurred pursuant to the Existing Credit Agreements in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not to exceed the maximum aggregate amount available under the Existing Credit Agreements in existence on the Measurement Date and as in effect on the Measurement Date reduced by any required permanent repayments (which are accompanied by a corresponding permanent commitment reduction) thereunder;
- other Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding on the Measurement Date reduced by the amount of any scheduled amortization payments or mandatory prepayments when actually paid or permanent reductions thereon;
- (4)

 Interest Swap Obligations of the Company covering Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and Interest Swap Obligations of any Subsidiary of the Company covering Indebtedness of such Subsidiary; provided, however, that such Interest Swap Obligations are entered into to protect the Company and its Subsidiaries from fluctuations in interest rates on Indebtedness incurred in accordance with the Indenture to the extent the notional principal amount of such Interest Swap Obligation does not exceed the principal amount of the Indebtedness to which such Interest Swap Obligation relates;
- Indebtedness under Currency Agreements; *provided* that in the case of Currency Agreements which relate to Indebtedness, such Currency Agreements do not increase the Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries outstanding other than as a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates or by reason of fees, indemnities and compensation payable thereunder;
- (6) Indebtedness of a Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as such Indebtedness is held by the Company or a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company;
- Indebtedness of the Company to a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company for so long as such Indebtedness is held by a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company, in each case subject to no Lien; *provided* that: (a) any Indebtedness of the Company to any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company is unsecured and subordinated, pursuant to a written agreement, to the Company's obligations under the Indenture and the iStar Notes; and (b) if as of any date any Person other than a Wholly Owned Subsidiary of the Company owns or holds any such Indebtedness or any Person holds a Lien in respect of such Indebtedness, such date shall be deemed the incurrence of Indebtedness not constituting Permitted Indebtedness by the Company;

- Indebtedness arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument inadvertently (except in the case of daylight overdrafts) drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business; provided, however, that such Indebtedness is extinguished within two business days of incurrence;
- (9)

 Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries represented by letters of credit for the account of the Company or such Subsidiary, as the case may be, in order to provide security for workers' compensation claims, payment obligations in connection with self-insurance or similar requirements in the ordinary course of business;
- (10) Refinancing Indebtedness; and
- additional Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed \$15.0 million at any one time outstanding (which amount may, but need not, be incurred in whole or in part under the Existing Credit Agreements).

For purposes of determining compliance with the "Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness" covenant, in the event that an item of Indebtedness meets the criteria of more than one of the categories of Permitted Indebtedness described in clauses (1) through (11) above or is entitled to be incurred pursuant to the second paragraph of such covenant, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, classify (or later reclassify) such item of Indebtedness in any manner that complies with this covenant. Accrual of interest, accretion or amortization of original issue discount, the payment of interest on any Indebtedness in the form of additional Indebtedness with the same terms, and the payment of dividends on Disqualified Capital Stock in the form of additional shares of the same class of Disqualified Capital Stock will not be deemed to be an incurrence of Indebtedness or an issuance of Disqualified Capital Stock for purposes of the "Limitations on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness" covenant.

"Permitted Liens" means the following types of Liens:

- (1)
 Liens for taxes, assessments or governmental charges or claims either: (a) not delinquent; or (b) contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and as to which the Company or its Subsidiaries shall have set aside on its books such reserves as may be required pursuant to GAAP;
- statutory Liens of landlords and Liens of carriers, warehousemen, mechanics, suppliers, materialmen, repairmen and other Liens imposed by law incurred in the ordinary course of business for sums not yet delinquent or being contested in good faith, if such reserve or other appropriate provision, if any, as shall be required by GAAP shall have been made in respect thereof;
- Liens incurred or deposits made in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security, including any Lien securing letters of credit issued in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in connection therewith, or to secure the performance of tenders, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, bids, leases, government contracts, performance and return-of-money bonds and other similar obligations (exclusive of obligations for the payment of borrowed money);
- judgment Liens not giving rise to an Event of Default so long as such Lien is adequately bonded and any appropriate legal proceedings which may have been duly initiated for the review of such judgment shall not have been finally terminated or the period within which such proceedings may be initiated shall not have expired;
- (5)
 easements, rights-of-way, zoning restrictions and other similar charges or encumbrances in respect of real property not interfering in any material respect with the ordinary conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;

- (6) any interest or title of a lessor under any Capitalized Lease Obligation; *provided* that such Liens do not extend to any property or assets which is not leased property subject to such Capitalized Lease Obligation;
- (7)
 Liens upon specific items of inventory or other goods and proceeds of any Person securing such Person's obligations in respect of bankers' acceptances issued or created for the account of such Person to facilitate the purchase, shipment or storage of such inventory or other goods;
- (8)

 Liens securing reimbursement obligations with respect to commercial letters of credit which encumber documents and other property relating to such letters of credit and products and proceeds thereof;
- (9) Liens encumbering deposits made to secure obligations arising from statutory, regulatory, contractual, or warranty requirements of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including rights of offset and set-off;
- (10)

 Liens securing Interest Swap Obligations which Interest Swap Obligations relate to Indebtedness that is otherwise permitted under the Indenture; and
- (11)
 Liens securing Indebtedness under Currency Agreements.

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, unincorporated organization, trust or joint venture, or a governmental agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Preferred Stock" of any Person means any Capital Stock of such Person that has preferential rights to any other Capital Stock of such Person with respect to dividends or redemptions or upon liquidation.

"Qualified Capital Stock" means any Capital Stock that is not Disqualified Capital Stock.

"Refinance" means, in respect of any security or Indebtedness, to refinance, extend, renew, refund, repay, prepay, redeem, defease or retire, or to issue a security or Indebtedness in exchange or replacement for, such security or Indebtedness in whole or in part. "Refinanced" and "Refinancing" shall have correlative meanings.

"Refinancing Indebtedness" means any Refinancing by the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company of Indebtedness incurred in accordance with the "Limitation on Incurrence of Additional Indebtedness" covenant (other than pursuant to clauses (2), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), (9) or (11) of the definition of Permitted Indebtedness), in each case that does not:

- result in an increase in the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of such Person as of the date of such proposed Refinancing (plus the amount of any premium required to be paid under the terms of the instrument governing such Indebtedness and plus the amount of reasonable expenses incurred by the Company in connection with such Refinancing); or
- create Indebtedness with: (a) a Weighted Average Life to Maturity that is less than the Weighted Average Life to Maturity of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; or (b) a final maturity earlier than the final maturity of the Indebtedness being Refinanced; provided that (i) if such Indebtedness being Refinanced is Indebtedness of the Company, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be Indebtedness solely of the Company, and (ii) if such Indebtedness being Refinanced is subordinate or junior to the iStar Notes, then such Refinancing Indebtedness shall be subordinate to the iStar Notes at least to the same extent and in the same manner as the Indebtedness being Refinanced.

"REIT" means Real Estate Investment Trust.

"Secured Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness secured by a Lien upon the property of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

"Senior Recourse Indebtedness" means all Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than Indebtedness that is Non-Recourse Indebtedness and other than Subordinated Indebtedness).

"Significant Subsidiary," with respect to any Person, means any Subsidiary of such Person that satisfies the criteria for a "significant subsidiary" set forth in Rule 1.02(w) of Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act.

"Subordinated Indebtedness" means all of our and our Subsidiaries' Indebtedness that expressly provides that such Indebtedness shall be subordinated in right of payment to any other Indebtedness and matures or is mandatorily redeemable pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the sole option of the holder thereof (except, in each case, upon the occurrence of a Change of Control) on or after the final maturity date of the iStar Notes.

"Subsidiary," with respect to any Person, means:

- any corporation of which the outstanding Capital Stock having at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast in the election of directors under ordinary circumstances shall at the time be owned, directly or indirectly, by such Person; or
- (2) any other Person of which at least a majority of the voting interest under ordinary circumstances is at the time, directly or indirectly, owned by such Person.

"Total Unencumbered Assets" as of any date means the sum of:

- (1) those Undepreciated Real Estate Assets not securing any portion of Secured Indebtedness; and
- all other assets (but excluding intangibles and accounts receivable) of the Company and its Subsidiaries not securing any portion of Secured Indebtedness determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Undepreciated Real Estate Assets" means, as of any date, the cost (being the original cost to the Company or any of Subsidiaries plus capital improvements) of real estate assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries on such date, before depreciation and amortization of such real estate assets, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

"Unsecured Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is not Secured Indebtedness.

"Weighted Average Life to Maturity" means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing:
(1) the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness into; (2) the sum of the total of the products obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payment of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) which will elapse between such date and the making of such payment.

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" of any Person means any Subsidiary of such Person of which all the outstanding voting securities (other than in the case of a foreign Subsidiary, directors' qualifying shares or an immaterial amount of shares required to be owned by other Persons pursuant to applicable law) are owned by such Person or any Wholly Owned Subsidiary of such Person.

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE TRINET NOTES

We are soliciting consents to amend the indenture governing the TriNet Notes in order to eliminate or waive the restrictive covenants listed below. References to "the Company" in the text of the covenants are references to TriNet and references to "the Securities" are references to the TriNet Notes:

Section 801 Consolidations and Mergers of Company and Sales, Leases and Conveyances Permitted Subject to Certain Conditions;

Section 1004 Existence;

Section 1005 Maintenance of Properties;

Section 1006 Insurance;

Section 1007 Payment of Taxes and Other Claims;

Section 2.4 Limitations on Incurrence of Indebtedness; and

Section 2.15 Provision of Financial Information.

Set forth below is the text of each of those sections:

TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc.
7.70% Notes due 2017 Elimination or Waiver of Restrictive Covenants

Section 801. Consolidations and Mergers of Company and Sales, Leases and Conveyances Permitted Subject to Certain

Conditions. The Company may consolidate with, or sell, lease or convey all or substantially all of its assets to, or merge with or into any other corporation, provided that in any such case, (1) either the Company shall be the continuing corporation, or the successor corporation shall be a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the United States or a State thereof and such successor corporation shall expressly assume the due and punctual payment of the principal of (and premium or Make-Whole Amount, if any) and any interest on all of the Securities, according to their tenor, and the due and punctual performance and observance of all of the covenants and conditions of this Indenture to be performed by the Company by supplemental indenture, complying with Article Nine hereof, satisfactory to the Trustee, executed and delivered to the Trustee by such corporation and (2) immediately after giving effect to such transaction and treating any indebtedness which becomes an obligation of the Company or any Subsidiary as a result thereof as having been incurred by the Company or such Subsidiary at the time of such transaction, no Event of Default, and no event which, after notice or the lapse of time, or both, would become an Event of Default, shall have occurred and be continuing.

Section 1004. Existence. Subject to Article Eight, the Company will do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve and keep in full force and effect its corporate existence, all material rights (by articles of incorporation, by-laws and statute) and material franchises; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to preserve any such right or franchise if the Board of Directors shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of the Company.

Section 1005. Maintenance of Properties. The Company will cause all of its material properties used or useful in the conduct of its business or the business of any Subsidiary to be maintained and kept in good condition, repair and working order and supplied with all necessary equipment and will cause to be made all necessary repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereof, all as in the judgment of the Company may be necessary so that the business carried on in connection therewith may be properly and advantageously conducted at all times; provided, however, that the Company and

its Subsidiaries shall not be prevented from selling or otherwise disposing of their properties for value in the ordinary course of business.

Section 1006. Insurance. The Company will cause each of its and its Subsidiaries' insurable properties to be insured against loss or damage in an amount at least equal to their then full insurable value with insurers of recognized responsibility.

Section 1007. Payment of Taxes and Other Claims. The Company will pay or discharge or cause to be paid or discharged, before the same shall become delinquent, (1) all taxes, assessments and governmental charges levied or imposed upon it or any Subsidiary or upon the income, profits or property of the Company or any Subsidiary, and (2) all lawful claims for labor, materials and supplies which, if unpaid, might by law become a lien upon the property of the Company or any Subsidiary; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to pay or discharge or cause to be paid or discharged any such tax, assessment, charge or claim whose amount, applicability or validity is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.

Section 2.4. Limitations on Incurrence of Indebtedness.

- The Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, incur any Indebtedness if, immediately after giving effect to the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness and the application of the proceeds thereof, the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis determined in accordance with GAAP is greater than 60% of the sum of (without duplication) (i) the Total Assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the end of the calendar quarter covered in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K or Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as the case may be, most recently filed with the Commission (or, if such filing is not permitted under the Exchange Act, with the Trustee) prior to the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness and (ii) the purchase price of any real estate assets or mortgages receivable acquired, and the amount of any securities offering proceeds received (to the extent such proceeds were not used to acquire real estate assets or mortgages receivable or used to reduce Indebtedness), by the Company or any Subsidiary since the end of such calendar quarter, including those proceeds obtained in connection with the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness.
- (2) In addition to the limitation set forth in subsection (1) of this Section 2.4, the Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, incur any Indebtedness if the ratio of Consolidated Income Available for Debt Service to the Annual Service Charge for the four consecutive fiscal quarters most recently ended prior to the date on which such additional Indebtedness is to be incurred shall have been less than 2.0:1, on a pro forma basis after giving effect thereto and to the application of the proceeds therefrom, and calculated on the assumption that (i) such Indebtedness and any other Indebtedness incurred by the Company and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such four-quarter period and the application of the proceeds therefrom, including to refinance other Indebtedness, had occurred at the beginning of such period; (ii) the repayment or retirement of any other Indebtedness by the Company and its Subsidiaries since the first day of such four-quarter period had been repaid or retired at the beginning of such period (except that, in making such computation, the amount of Indebtedness under any revolving credit facility shall be computed based upon the average daily balance of such Indebtedness during such period); (iii) in the case of Acquired Indebtedness or Indebtedness incurred in connection with any acquisition since the first day of such four-quarter period, the related acquisition had occurred as of the first day of such period with the appropriate adjustments with respect to such acquisition being included in such pro forma calculation; and (iv) in the case of any acquisition or disposition by the Company or its Subsidiaries of any asset or group of assets since the first day of such four-quarter period, whether by merger, stock purchase or sale, or asset purchase or sale, such acquisition or disposition or any related repayment of Indebtedness had occurred as of the first day of such

60

period with the appropriate adjustments with respect to such acquisition or disposition being included in such pro forma calculation.

- In addition to the limitations set forth in subsections (1) and (2) of this Section 2.4, the Company will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, incur any Indebtedness secured by any Encumbrance upon any of the property of the Company or any Subsidiary if, immediately after giving effect to the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness and the application of the proceeds thereof, the aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis which is secured by any Encumbrance on property of the Company or any Subsidiary is greater than 40% of the sum of (without duplication) (i) the Total Assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the end of the calendar quarter covered in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K or Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as the case may be, most recently filed with the Commission (or, if such filing is not permitted under the Exchange Act, with the Trustee) prior to the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness and (ii) the purchase price of any real estate assets or mortgages receivable acquired, and the amount of any securities offering proceeds received (to the extent that such proceeds were not used to acquire real estate assets or mortgages receivable or used to reduce Indebtedness), by the Company or any Subsidiary since the end of such calendar quarter, including those proceeds obtained in connection with the incurrence of such additional Indebtedness.
- (4)
 The Company and its Subsidiaries may not at any time own Total Unencumbered Assets equal to less than 185% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Unsecured Indebtedness of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.
- (5)

 For purposes of this Section 2.4, Indebtedness shall be deemed to be "incurred" by the Company or a Subsidiary whenever the Company or such Subsidiary shall create, assume, guarantee or otherwise become liable in respect thereof.

Section 2.15. Provision of Financial Information. Whether or not the Company is subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Company will, to the extent permitted under the Exchange Act, file with the Commission the annual reports, quarterly reports and other documents which the Company would have been required to file with the Commission pursuant to such Section 13 or 15(d) if the Company were so subject, such documents to be filed with the Commission on or prior to the respective dates (the 'Required Filing Dates') by which the Company would have been required so to file such documents if the Company were so subject.

The Company will also in any event (x) within 15 days of each Required Filing Date (i) if the Company is not then subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, transmit by mail to all Holders, as their names and addresses appear in the Security Register, without cost to such Holders, copies of the annual reports and quarterly reports which the Company would have been required to file with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act if the Company were subject to such Sections and (ii) file with the Trustee copies of annual reports, quarterly reports and other documents which the Company is required to file with the Commission or would have been required to file with the Commission pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act if the Company were subject to such Sections and (y) if filing such documents by the Company with the Commission is not permitted under the Exchange Act, promptly upon written request and payment of the reasonable cost of duplication and delivery, supply copies of such documents to any prospective Holder.

TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. 7.70% Notes due 2017 Amendment of Events of Default

We are also soliciting consents to amend Section 2.13(5) and (9) "Events of Default" arising from defaults under other indebtedness and entries of judgments, orders or decrees in order to conform it to the iStar indenture. The defined terms used in the proposed amendments will have the

meanings given to them in the iStar indenture. See "Description of iStar Notes" for those definitions. Set forth below is the text of each of those subsections, as well as the text as it is proposed to be modified:

Existing Provision

Section 2.13 Events of Default.

- default under any bond, debenture, note, mortgage, indenture or instrument under which there may be issued or by which there may be secured or evidenced any indebtedness for money borrowed by the Company (or by any Subsidiary, the repayment of which the Company has guaranteed or for which the Company is directly responsible or liable as obligor or guarantor), having an aggregate principal amount outstanding of at least \$10,000,000, whether such indebtedness now exists or shall hereafter be created, which default shall have resulted in such indebtedness becoming or being declared due and payable prior to the date on which it would otherwise have become due and payable, without such indebtedness having been discharged, or such acceleration having been rescinded or annulled, within a period of 10 days after there shall have been given written notice, by registered or certified mail, to the Company by the Trustee or to the Company and the Trustee by the Holders of at least 10% in principal amount of the Outstanding Securities of that series a written notice specifying such default and requiring the Company to cause such indebtedness to be discharged or cause such acceleration to be rescinded or annulled and stating that such notice is a "Notice of Default" hereunder;
- (9)
 the entry by a court of competent jurisdiction of one or more judgments, orders or decrees against the Company or any of its
 Subsidiaries in an aggregate amount (excluding amounts covered by insurance) in excess of \$10,000,000 and such judgements, orders
 or decrees remain undischarged, unstayed and unsatisfied in an aggregate amount (excluding amounts covered by insurance) in excess
 of \$10,000,000 for a period of 30 consecutive days.

Proposed Amendments

Section 2.13 Events of Default.

- the failure to pay at final maturity (giving effect to any applicable grace periods and any extensions thereof) the principal amount of any Indebtedness (other than Non-Recourse Indebtedness) of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or the acceleration of the final stated maturity of any such Indebtedness (which acceleration is not rescinded, annulled or otherwise cured within 20 days of receipt by the Company or such Subsidiary of notice of any such acceleration) if the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness, together with the principal amount of any other such Indebtedness in default for failure to pay principal at final maturity or which has been accelerated, aggregates \$20.0 million or more at an time;
- one or more judgments in an aggregate amount in excess of \$20.0 million shall have been rendered against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and such judgments remain undischarged, unpaid or unstayed for a period of 60 days after such judgment or judgments become final and non-appealable (other than any judgments as to which, and only to the extent, a reputable insurance company has acknowledged coverage of such judgments in writing).

COMPARISON OF TRINET NOTES TO ISTAR NOTES

The principal terms of the iStar Notes are set forth under the caption "Description of iStar Notes" on page 35 of this prospectus.

The principal terms of the TriNet Notes, other than the covenants set forth under the caption "Proposed Amendments to the TriNet Notes" which we seek to eliminate, waive or amend, are as follows:

The TriNet Notes bear interest at rate of 7.70% per annum.

Interest on the TriNet Notes is paid semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year.

The TriNet Notes mature on July 15, 2017.

The TriNet Notes may be redeemed at any time at the option of TriNet, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the sum of (i) the principal amount of the TriNet Notes being redeemed plus accrued interest thereon to the redemption date and (ii) the make-whole amount, if any, with respect to the TriNet Notes.

The make-whole amount is the excess of (i) the aggregate present value as of the date of the redemption or accelerated payment of each dollar of principal being redeemed or paid and the amount of interest that would have been payable if the redemption or accelerated payment had not been made, determined by discounting, on a semi-annual basis, such principal and interest at the rate of .25% plus the arithmetic mean of the yields under the headings "This Week" and "Last Week" published in the Statistical Release under the caption "Treasury Constant Maturities" for the maturity corresponding to the remaining life to maturity, as of the payment date of the principal being redeemed or paid, from the respective dates on which such principal and interest would have been payable if such redemption or accelerated payment had not been made, over (ii) the aggregate principal amount of the TriNet Notes being redeemed or paid.

TRINET CORPORATE REALTY TRUST, INC.

TriNet, a Maryland corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of iStar that owns corporate facilities that are leased back to creditworthy corporate customers. TriNet's net leased assets are generally mission-critical headquarters or distribution facilities that are subject to long-term leases with rated corporate credit tenants, and which generally provide for all expenses at the property to be paid by the corporate tenant on a triple net lease basis. Corporate tenant lease transactions have terms generally ranging from ten to 20 years and typically range in size from \$20 million to \$150 million. As of September 30, 2004, TriNet's investments consisted of 67 facilities principally subject to net leases to approximately 99 customers, comprising 7.8 million square feet in 17 states. Of the 67 facilities, there is one facility held in one unconsolidated joint venture.

TriNet became a wholly-owned subsidiary of iStar through a merger on November 4, 1999.

TriNet is engaged in a competitive business. In originating and acquiring assets, TriNet competes with public and private companies, including finance companies, mortgage banks, pension funds, savings and loan associations, insurance companies, institutional investors, investment banking firms and other lenders and industry participants, as well as individual investors. Existing industry participants and potential new entrants compete with TriNet for the available supply of investments suitable for origination or acquisition, as well as for debt and equity capital. Certain of TriNet's competitors are larger than TriNet, have longer operating histories, may have access to greater capital and other resources, may have management personnel with more experience than the officers of TriNet, and may have advantages over TriNet in conducting certain businesses and providing certain services.

Properties

TriNet maintains an office at One Embarcadero Center San Francisco, CA 94111. Its telephone number, general facsimile number and web address are (415) 391-4300, (415) 391-6259 and *www.istarfinancial.com*, respectively. The lease for TriNet's office space expires in March 2008.

Legal Proceedings

TriNet is not a party to any material litigation or legal proceedings, or to the best of its knowledge, any threatened litigation or legal proceedings which, in the opinion of management, individually or in the aggregate, would have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition.

BOOK ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM

The certificates representing the iStar Notes will be issued in fully registered form without interest coupons.

The iStar Notes sold will initially be represented by permanent global iStar Note in fully registered form without interest coupons (each a "Restricted Global Note") and will be deposited with the Trustee as a custodian for The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and registered in the name of a nominee of such depositary.

Upon the issuance of a Global Note, DTC or its nominee will credit the accounts of persons holding through it with the respective principal amounts of the iStar Notes represented by such Global Note received by such persons in the exchange offer. Such accounts shall be designated by the initial purchasers. Ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Note will be limited to persons that have accounts with DTC ("participants") or persons that may hold interests through participants. Any person acquiring an interest in a Global Note through an offshore transaction in reliance on Regulation S of the Securities Act may hold such interest through Cedel or Euroclear. Ownership of beneficial interests in a Global Note will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership interest will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to participants' interests) and such participants (with respect to the owners of beneficial interests in such Global Note other than participants). The laws of some jurisdictions require that certain purchasers of securities take physical delivery of such securities in definitive form. Such limits and such laws may impair the ability to transfer beneficial interests in a Global Note.

Payment of principal of and interest on iStar Notes represented by a Global Note will be made in immediately available funds to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the sole registered owner and the sole holder of the iStar Notes represented thereby for all purposes under the indenture. We have been advised by DTC that upon receipt of any payment of principal of or interest on any Global Note, DTC will immediately credit, on its book-entry registration and transfer system, the accounts of participants with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal or face amount of such Global Note as shown on the records of DTC. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a Global Note held through such participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices as is now the case with securities held for customer accounts registered in "street name" and will be the sole responsibility of such participants.

A Global Note may not be transferred except as a whole by DTC or a nominee of DTC to a nominee of DTC or to DTC. A Global Note is exchangeable for certificated iStar Notes only if (a) DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for such Global Note or if at any time DTC ceases to be a clearing agency registered under the Exchange Act, (b) we in our discretion at any time determine not to have all the iStar Notes represented by such Global Note, or (c) there shall have occurred and be continuing a default or an event of default with respect to the iStar Notes represented by such Global Note. Any Global Note that is exchangeable for certificated

iStar Notes pursuant to the preceding sentence will be exchanged for certificated iStar Notes in authorized denominations and registered in such names as DTC or any successor depositary holding such Global Note may direct. Subject to the foregoing, a Global Note is not exchangeable, except for a Global Note of like denomination to be registered in the name of DTC or any successor depositary or its nominee. In the event that a Global Note becomes exchangeable for certificated iStar Notes, (a) certificated iStar Notes will be issued only in fully registered form in denominations of \$1,000 or integral multiples thereof, (b) payment of principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, the certificated iStar Notes will be payable, and the transfer of the certificated iStar Notes will be registerable, at our office or agency maintained for such purposes and (c) no service charge will be made for any registration of transfer or exchange of the certificated iStar Notes, although we may require payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or governmental charge imposed in connection therewith.

The Global Notes

We expect that pursuant to procedures established by DTC (i) upon the issuance of the Global Notes, DTC or its custodian will credit, on its internal system, the principal amount at maturity of the individual beneficial interests represented by such Global Notes to the respective accounts of persons who have accounts with such depositary and (ii) ownership of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the transfer of such ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee (with respect to interests of participants) and the records of participants (with respect to interests of persons other than participants). Such accounts initially will be designated by or on behalf of the initial purchasers and ownership of beneficial interests in the Global Notes will be limited to persons who have accounts with DTC ("participants") or persons who hold interests through participants. Holders may hold their interests in the Global Notes directly through DTC if they are participants in such system, or indirectly through organizations which are participants in such system.

So long as DTC, or its nominee, is the registered owner or holder of the iStar Notes, DTC or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the iStar Notes represented by such Global Notes for all purposes under the Indenture. No beneficial owner of an interest in the Global Notes will be able to transfer that interest except in accordance with DTC's procedures, in addition to those provided for under the Indenture with respect to the iStar Notes.

Payments of the principal of, premium (if any), interest (including Additional Interest) on, the Global iStar Notes will be made to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered owner thereof. None of the Company, the Trustee or any Paying Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the Global Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interest.

We expect that DTC or its nominee, upon receipt of any payment of principal, premium, if any, interest (including Additional Interest) on the Global Notes, will credit participants' accounts with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the Global Notes as shown on the records of DTC or its nominee. The Company also expects that payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in the Global Notes held through such participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practice, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be the responsibility of such participants.

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in the ordinary way through DTC's same-day funds system in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in same day funds. If a holder requires physical delivery of a Certificated Security for any reason, including to sell the iStar Notes to persons in states which require physical delivery of the iStar Notes, or to pledge such securities, such

holder must transfer its interest in a Global Note, in accordance with the normal procedures of DTC and with the procedures set forth in the Indenture.

DTC has advised us that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Notes (including the presentation of the iStar Notes for exchange as described below) only at the direction of one or more participants to whose account the DTC interests in the Global Notes are credited and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the iStar Notes as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, if there is an Event of Default under the Indenture, DTC will exchange the Global Notes for Certificated Securities, which it will distribute to its participants.

DTC has advised us as follows: DTC is a limited purpose trust company organized under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the Uniform Commercial Code and a "Clearing Agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and certain other organizations. Indirect access to the DTC system is available to others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or indirectly ("indirect participants").

Although DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Note among participants of DTC, it is under no obligation to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither we nor the Trustee will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC or its participants or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

Certificated Securities

Certificated Securities shall be issued in exchange for beneficial interests in the Global Notes (i) if requested by a holder of such interests or (ii) if DTC is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as a depositary for the Global Notes and a successor depositary is not appointed by us within 90 days.

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The following discussion is a summary of the United States federal income tax consequences anticipated to be material to an investor in considering whether to exchange its TriNet Notes, including a summary of (i) the U.S. federal income tax consequences expected to result from the tender or non-tender of the TriNet Notes for the iStar Notes in the exchange offer, and (ii) the U.S. federal income tax consequences expected to result from the ownership and disposition of the iStar Notes by holders who hold the iStar Notes as "capital assets" (generally, property held for investment) within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code").

This discussion is based on the Code, current, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations promulgated under the Code, the legislative history of the Code, current administrative interpretations and practices of the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"), and court decisions, all as of the date of this prospectus. The administrative interpretations and practices of the IRS upon which this summary is based include its practices and policies as expressed in private letter rulings which are not binding on the IRS, except with respect to the taxpayers who requested and received such rulings. Future legislation, Treasury regulations, administrative interpretations and practices, and court decisions may affect the tax consequences contained in this summary, possibly on a retroactive basis. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, any rulings from the IRS concerning our tax treatment or the tax consequences contained in this summary, and the statements in this prospectus are not binding on the IRS or a court. Thus, we can provide no assurance that the tax consequences contained in this summary will not be challenged by the IRS or sustained by a court if so challenged.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a holder of iStar Notes may vary depending upon such holder's particular situation. Certain holders (including, but not limited to, banks, certain financial institutions, persons who mark-to-market the Notes, partnerships or other passthrough entities, insurance companies, broker-dealers, expatriates and persons holding the Notes as part of a "straddle," "hedge" or "conversion transaction") may be subject to special rules not discussed below.

PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND THE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE ISTAR NOTES, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN OR OTHER TAX LAWS OR TAX TREATIES.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of iStar Notes that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

an individual citizen or resident of the United States;

a corporation or other entity treated as a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or of any political subdivision thereof;

an estate whose income is subject to United States federal income tax regardless of its source;

a trust, if both: (1) a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust; and (2) one or more United States persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust; or

one of certain trusts in existence on August 20, 1996, and treated as United States persons prior to such date, that elect to continue to be treated as United States persons.

As used herein, the term "Non-U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of iStar Notes that is, for U.S. federal tax purposes, either a nonresident alien or a corporation, estate or trust that is not a U.S. Holder.

This discussion does not address the tax consequences applicable to partnerships (or any other entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes). A holder of TriNet Notes or iStar Notes that is neither a U.S. Holder nor a Non-U.S. Holder should consult its own tax advisor.

Taxation of U.S. Holders

Taxation of an Early Consenting Holder. The tax treatment of an exchanging U.S. Holder that is an early consenting holder will depend initially upon whether the exchange offer creates a deemed exchange of the TriNet Notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If the exchange does not result in a deemed exchange, then a U.S. Holder will not recognize any gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and such holder will continue to have the same adjusted tax basis and holding period in the iStar Notes as it had in the TriNet Notes.

Treasury regulations specifically address whether or not the modification of the terms of a debt instrument will result in a deemed exchange of that debt instrument for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Generally, the modification of the terms of a debt instrument will be treated as a deemed exchange of an old debt instrument for a new debt instrument if such modification results in a "significant" modification. The Treasury regulations provide detailed provisions regarding the circumstances under which a modification may be deemed significant. In particular, a change in the yield of a debt instrument is a significant modification if the yield under the modified debt instrument varies from the yield on the unmodified debt instrument by more than the greater of 25 basis point or five percent of the annual yield of the unmodified instrument.

Based on the foregoing and our expectation that the yield of the iStar Notes for an early consenting holder will not vary from the yield of the TriNet Notes in excess of *de minimis* amount described above, we believe that the exchange will not result in a deemed exchange of the TriNet Notes for the iStar Notes to an early consenting holder for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, subject to the discussion of the consent amount below, a U.S. Holder that is an early consenting holder should not recognize any gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, except to the extent such Holder receives cash in lieu of a fractional iStar Note, and such Holder should continue to have the same adjusted tax basis and holding period in the New Notes after such modifications as it had in the Notes prior to such modifications.

If a U.S. Holder receives cash in lieu of a fractional iStar Note, such U.S. Holder will be treated as if such it redeemed such fractional iStar Note for cash. The U.S. Holder will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the cash received and that portion of such Holder's adjusted tax basis in the iStar Notes attributable to the fractional iStar Note.

Taxation of a Late Consenting Holder. If a U.S. Holder is a late consenting holder, we expect that the yield of the iStar Notes received by such a Holder will vary from the yield of the TriNet Notes exchanged therefor by more than the greater of 25 basis points or five percent of the annual yield of the TriNet Notes. As a result, we believe that the exchange will result in a deemed exchange of the TriNet Notes to a late consenting holder for federal income tax purposes. Such an exchange generally is taxable to the U.S. Holders, unless the exchange qualifies as a recapitalization of the issuer under Section 368(a)(1)(E) of the Code. Although the TriNet Notes and the iStar Notes are issued by two different corporations for state law purposes, for U.S. federal income tax purposes the issuer of both the TriNet Notes and the iStar Notes is a single corporation, iStar Financial Inc. Accordingly, while not free from doubt, we believe that the exchange by a late consenting holder should qualify as a tax-free recapitalization of iStar Financial Inc. for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The following discussion assumes the correctness of this treatment.

A U.S. Holder in the exchange that is a late consenting holder should not recognize any gain or loss, unless the U.S. Holder receives cash or "other property" in the exchange. For purposes of the recapitalization rules, the amount of "other property" received in the exchange includes the excess of

the principal amount of the TriNet Notes surrendered over the principal amount of the iStar Notes received in the exchange, including the portion of any iStar Notes received in the exchange attributable to the consent amount (the "excess principal amount"). Although the matter is not free from doubt, we believe, and intend to take the position that, the principal amount of a TriNet Note is equal to its adjusted issue price (i.e. \$996.06 per \$1000 of stated principal amount) and the principal amount of an iStar Note will be equal to the stated principal amount of such note.

Based on market information currently available, we expect that an exchanging holder of TriNet Notes will receive iStar Notes with an excess principal amount as described above. Accordingly, a U.S. Holder that is a late consenting holder should recognize gain (but not loss) in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the fair market value of the excess principal amount, and (ii) the U.S. Holder's gain realized on the exchange determined by comparing the value of all property (including the excess principal amount) received by the U.S. Holder with the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the TriStar Notes. Such U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a TriNet Note generally equals the price such holder paid therefor, increased by the amount of any market discount previously included in income by such U.S. Holder with respect to such TriNet Note, and reduced (but not below zero) by any amortizable bond premium previously amortized with respect to the Note. Such a U.S. Holder's TriNet Note would have "market discount" if the U.S. Holder acquired the TriNet Note subsequent to its original issuance at a price lower (by more than a statutorily defined de minimis amount) than the stated redemption price at maturity of such TriNet Note. An iStar Note that is exchanged for a TriNet Note with market discount will continue to accrue market discount over its term. Any gain recognized by a U.S. Holder with respect to a TriNet Note with market discount in the exchange generally will be subject to tax as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount accruing during such U.S. Holder's period of ownership of the TriNet Note. This rule will not apply to a U.S. Holder who previously had elected to include market discount in income as it accrued for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In addition to the foregoing, if a U.S. Holder that is a late consenting holder receives cash in lieu of a fractional iStar Note, such U.S. Holder will be treated as if such fractional iStar Note were received in the tax-free recapitalization and then redeemed for cash. The U.S. Holder would recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between the cash received and that portion of such Holder's tax basis in the iStar Notes attributable to fractional securities.

Any gain realized by a U.S. Holder in the exchange will be capital gain (except to the extent attributable to accrued market discount on the TriNet Notes that is treated as ordinary income under the rules applicable to market discount notes), and will be long-term capital gain if the U.S. Holder's holding period in the TriNet Notes is more than one year. Long-term capital gain recognized by a non-corporate U.S. Holder generally will be subject to a tax at a preferential rate not to exceed 15%.

The iStar Notes will have a holding period that includes the period during which the U.S. Holder held the TriNet Notes.

If a U.S. Holder that is a late consenting holder recognizes gain by reason of the treatment of the excess principal amount as "other property," the computation of the U.S. Holder's tax basis and holding period in the iStar Notes received is unclear. A U.S. Holder may be treated as the holder a separate debt instrument equal to the excess principal amount, which instrument would have a new holding period beginning the day after the exchange and a tax basis equal to the amount of gain recognized by the U.S. Holder as a result of the receipt of such U.S. property. A U.S. Holder's tax basis in the remaining portion of the iStar Notes should generally equal its adjusted tax basis in the TriNet Notes exchanged, decreased by the fair market value of the excess principal amount received and increased by the amount of gain which the U.S. Holder recognized as taxable gain on the exchange. A U.S. Holder's holding period in this portion of the iStar Notes should include its holding period in the TriNet Notes exchanged therefor. U.S. Holders are strongly urged to consult their own

tax advisors in order to determine the holding period for and adjusted tax basis in the iStar Notes received in the exchange offer and any alternative federal income tax treatments.

If a U.S. Holder has an adjusted tax basis in the iStar Notes that exceeds the stated principal amount of the iStar Notes, the iStar Notes will have bond premium to the extent of that excess. A U.S. Holder generally may elect to amortize this bond premium on a constant yield basis. A U.S. holder who elects to amortize bond premium may offset each interest payment on the iStar Note by the portion of the bond premium allocable to such payment and must reduce its adjusted tax basis in such iStar Note by the amount of the premium so amortized. A U.S. Holder that acquired its TriNet Notes at a market discount generally will be required to carry over to the iStar Notes any accrued market discount with respect to the TriNet Notes to the extent that the accrued market discount was not previously included in income or recognized in the exchange.

If the exchange does not qualify for treatment as a tax-free recapitalization, a U.S. Holder that is a late consenting holder would recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes upon the exchange in an amount equal to the difference between (i) the issue price of the iStar Notes received in exchange for the TriNet Notes, and (ii) the holder's adjusted tax basis in the TriNet Notes on the date of the exchange. We believe, and intend to take the position that, the iStar Notes are not publicly traded and, therefore, the issue price of the iStar Notes will be their stated principal amount. Such gain or loss generally would be capital gain (except to the extent attributable to accrued market discount on the TriNet Notes that is treated as ordinary income under the rules applicable to market discount notes), and would be long-term capital gain if the U.S. Holder's holding period in the TriNet Notes was more than one year on the date of the exchange.

Treatment of the Consent Amount. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the receipt of the consent amount is unclear. While we intend to take the position that the consent amount should be treated as part of the principal amount of the iStar Notes received in the exchange, the IRS could take the position that the consent amount is a separate payment in the nature of a fee paid for such holder's early tender of the TriNet Notes. If the IRS were successful in making such an assertion, the exchange of TriNet Notes for iStar Notes by a U.S. Holder that is an early consenting holder would be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes in the same manner as the exchange of TriNet Notes for iStar Notes by a late consenting holder as discussed above as a result of the larger change in yield due to the reduced principal amount received. Thus, a U.S. Holder that is an early consenting holder may be required to recognize gain as a result of the exchange. In addition, the early consenting holder generally would be treated as having ordinary income in an amount equal to the fair market value of the consent amount. U.S. Holders that are early consenting holders are strongly urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal income tax treatment of the consent amount and its possible characterization as a separate payment in the nature of a fee.

Taxation of a Non-Exchanging U.S. Holder. The tax treatment of a U.S. Holder of TriNet Notes that does not participate in the exchange will depend on whether the modifications to the restrictive covenants and other provisions of the TriNet Notes described in this registration statement are "significant" and, therefore, constitute a deemed exchange of the TriNet Notes for new TriNet notes for U.S. federal income tax purposes. We believe that the proposed modifications to the TriNet Notes should not result in a deemed exchange, because, based on all the facts and circumstances, such modifications have not altered the legal rights and obligations of the noteholders in a manner or to a degree that is economically significant or would be treated as a "significant" modification for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, a U.S. Holder should not recognize any gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and such holder should continue to have the same adjusted tax basis and holding period in the TriNet Notes after such modifications as it had in the TriNet Notes prior to such modifications.

Taxation of a Holder of iStar Notes

Payments of Interest. Interest on an iStar Note generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary income at the time it accrues or is received, in accordance with the U.S. Holder's regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes.

Sale, Retirement or Other Taxable Disposition. In general, a U.S. Holder of an iStar Note will recognize gain or loss upon the sale, retirement or other taxable disposition of an iStar Note in an amount equal to the difference between:

the amount of cash and the fair market value of property received in exchange therefor (except to the extent attributable to the payment of accrued and unpaid interest or accrued market discount on such Note, which generally will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary income as described above); and

the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in such iStar Note.

A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in an iStar Note generally will be equal to its adjusted tax basis in a TriNet Note, as adjusted for the recognition of any gain on the exchange as discussed above, increased by the amount of any market discount included in income by such U.S. Holder since the receipt of the iStar Note, and reduced (but not below zero) by any amortizable bond premium amortized with respect to the iStar Note. Capital gain recognized by a non-corporate U.S. Holder from the sale of a capital asset that has been held for more than one year generally will be subject to tax at a rate not to exceed 15% (or 20% for dispositions after 2008), whereas capital gain recognized by a non-corporate U.S. Holder from the sale of a capital asset held for one year or less generally will be subject to tax at ordinary income tax rates. Capital gain recognized by a corporate U.S. Holder will be subject to tax at the ordinary income tax rates applicable to corporations regardless of the corporation's holding period. The ability of a U.S. Holder to deduct a capital loss is subject to limitations under the Code.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders

A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to United States federal income or withholding tax on payments of interest on an iStar Note if such payments are not effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business and the holder submits the statement described below, unless such Non-U.S. Holder (i) owns directly, or by attribution, 10% or more of the total combined voting power of all classes of our stock entitled to vote, (ii) is a controlled foreign corporation related to us, or (iii) is a bank as to which the interest represents interest received on an extension of credit made pursuant to a loan agreement entered into in the ordinary course of its trade or business, in which case such interest will be subject to a 30% withholding tax (unless reduced or eliminated by an applicable treaty).

To qualify for the exemption from the withholding tax (or to claim the elimination or reduction of the withholding tax under a treaty), the last United States payor in the chain of payment prior to payment to a Non-U.S. Holder (the "Withholding Agent") must have received, before payment, a statement that:

is signed by the Non-U.S. Holder under penalties of perjury;

certifies that the Non-U.S. Holder is not a U.S. Holder; and

provides the name and address of the Non-U.S. Holder.

Certain additional information may be required to claim the elimination or reduction in withholding tax under a treaty.

71

The statement may be made on an IRS Form W-8BEN or a substantially similar form, and the Non-U.S. Holder must inform the Withholding Agent of any change in the information on the statement within 30 days of such change. If an iStar Note is held through a securities clearing organization or certain other financial institutions, the beneficial owner of the iStar Note must provide the above statement to such organization or institution.

In addition, a Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to United States federal withholding tax on any amount which constitutes gain upon retirement or disposition of an iStar Note. Such gain generally will also not be subject to United States federal income tax unless the gain is effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the United States by the Non-U.S. Holder or, in the case of a Non-U.S. Holder who is an individual, the Non-U.S. Holder is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the sale and certain other conditions are met.

If interest and other payments received by a Non-U.S. Holder with respect to the iStar Notes (including proceeds from a sale, retirement or other disposition of the iStar Notes) are effectively connected with the conduct by the Non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business within the United States, such Non-U.S. Holder will generally not be subject to United States federal withholding tax (provided the Non-U.S. Holder has provided the Withholding Agent with a valid IRS Form W-8ECI) and will generally be subject to the rules described above for a U.S. Holder (subject to any modification provided under an applicable income tax treaty). Such Non-U.S. Holder may also be subject to the "branch profits tax" if such holder is a corporation.

Backup Withholding

U.S. Holders

Certain non-corporate U.S. Holders may be subject to backup withholding on payments of principal and interest on, and the proceeds of the disposition of, the iStar Notes, if the U.S. Holder:

fails to furnish on a properly completed IRS Form W-9 (or substantially similar form) its taxpayer identification number ("TIN"), which, for an individual, would be his or her Social Security number;

furnishes an incorrect TIN;

is notified by the IRS that it has failed to report payments of interest or dividends; or

under certain circumstances, fails to certify, under penalty of perjury, that it has furnished a correct TIN and has not been notified by the IRS that it is subject to backup withholding tax for failure to report interest or dividend payments.

In addition, such payments of principal, interest and disposition proceeds to U.S. Holders will generally be subject to information reporting. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisors regarding their qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for obtaining such an exemption, if applicable.

Non-U.S. Holders

We must report annually to the IRS and to each Non-U.S. Holder any interest on the iStar Notes that is subject to withholding or that is exempt from U.S. withholding tax pursuant to a tax treaty or the "portfolio interest" exemption. Copies of these information returns may also be made available under the provisions of a specific treaty or agreement to the tax authorities of the country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides.

Backup withholding and other information reporting generally will not apply to payments of interest made to a Non-U.S. Holder of an iStar Note who provides a properly completed IRS

Form W-8BEN (or a substantially similar form) or otherwise establishes an exemption from backup withholding. Payments of principal or the proceeds of a disposition of the iStar Notes by or through a United States office of a broker generally will be subject to backup withholding and information reporting unless the Non-U.S. Holder certifies its status as a Non-U.S. Holder under penalties of perjury (and certain other conditions are met) or otherwise establishes an exemption. Payments of principal or the proceeds of a disposition of the iStar Notes by or through a foreign office of a United States broker or foreign broker with certain relationships to the United States generally will be subject to information reporting (but not backup withholding). However, the Non-U.S. Holder may be required to establish an exemption.

Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a beneficial owner would be allowed as a refund or a credit against such beneficial owner's United States federal income tax liability provided the required information is furnished to the IRS.

73

LEGAL MATTERS

The legality of the Notes offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Clifford Chance US LLP, New York, New York. Clifford Chance US LLP will rely upon the opinion of Venable LLP with respect to certain matters of Maryland law. Certain matters will be passed upon for the dealer manager by Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP.

EXPERTS

The financial statements and financial statement schedules incorporated in this prospectus by reference to iStar Financial Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 10, 2004, have been so incorporated in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

We disclose important information to you by referring you to documents that we have previously filed with the SEC or documents that we will file with the SEC in the future. The information incorporated by reference is considered to be part of this prospectus, and information in documents that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and supersede information in this prospectus, and any future filings made by us with the SEC under Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, until we close this offering. The documents we incorporate by reference are:

- iStar Financial Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31, 2003.
- iStar Financial Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2004, June 30, 2004 and September 30, 2004.
- (3)
 iStar Financial Inc.'s Current Reports on Form 8-K dated January 15, 2004 (filed on January 16, 2004), February 26, 2004, March 2, 2004, March 5, 2004, March 25, 2004, March 25, 2004 and December 10, 2004.
- iStar Financial Inc.'s Definitive Proxy Statement dated April 28, 2004.

We will, upon request, provide to each person to whom a copy of this prospectus is delivered a copy of any or all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus, but not delivered with this prospectus. We will provide this information at no cost to the requestor upon written or oral request addressed to iStar Financial Inc., 1114 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 10036, attention: Investor Relations Department (Telephone: (212) 930-9400).

No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this prospectus, and, if given or made, such information and representations must not be relied upon as having been autorized. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securites other than the securites to which it relates or any offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy such securities in any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. Neither the delivery of this prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been change in our affairs since the date hereof or that the information contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent the date hereof.

Manually signed copies of the consent and letter of transmittal will be accepted. The consent and letter of transmittal and any other required documents should be sent or delivered by each noteholder or such noteholder's broker, dealer, commercial bank or other nominee to the exchange agent at one of the addresses set forth below.

The Exchange Agent for the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation is:

Computershare Trust Company of New York

Wall Street Station P.O. Box 1010 New York, NY 10268-1010 Wall Street Plaza 88 Pine Street, 19th Floor New York, NY 10005

Questions and requests for assistance or for additional copies of this prospectus and the consent and letter of transmittal may be directed to the Information Agent at the telephone number and address listed below. You may also contact our broker, dealer, commercial bank, trust company or other nominee for assistance concerning the exchange offer and consent solicitation.

The Information Agent for the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation is:

17 State Street 10 Floor New York, NY 10004 Banks and Brokers Call 212.440.9800 All others call Toll-Free 1.866.873.6993

The Dealer Manager for the Exchange Offer and Solicitation Agent for the Consent Solicitation is:

Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc.

Global Liability Management Group 383 Madison Avenue, 8th Floor New York, New York 10179 (877) 696-BEAR (toll free) (877) 696-2327

PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification Of Directors And Officers.

As permitted by the General Corporation Law of the State of Maryland ("MGCL"), our Amended and Restated Charter ("Charter") provides that an officer, director, employee or agent of our company is entitled to be indemnified for the expenses, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him by reason of any action, suit or proceeding brought against him by virtue of his acting as such officer, director, employee or agent, provided he acted in good faith or in a manner he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of our company and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful, except that in any action or suit by or in the right of our company that person shall be indemnified only for the expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him and, if that person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct, he shall not be indemnified unless and only to the extent that a court of appropriate jurisdiction shall determine that such indemnification is fair and reasonable.

Item 21. Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedules.

- 4.1 iStar Financial Inc. Indenture for 5.70% Senior Notes due 2014 dated as of March 9, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4 filed May 21, 2004).
- 4.2 TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. Indenture for 7.70% Notes due 2017 dated July 14, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed July 23, 1997).
- 4.3 Amended and Restated Supplemental Indenture No. 2 for TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. for 7.70% Notes due 2017 dated , 2004.
- 5.1 Opinion of Clifford Chance US LLP.
- 8.1 Opinion of Clifford Chance US LLP as to tax matters.
- 12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to fixed charges and Earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends.
- 21.1 List of subsidiaries (Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).
- 23.1 Consent of Clifford Chance US LLP (Contained in Exhibit 5.1).
- 23.2 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to iStar Financial Inc.
- 24.1 Power of Attorney (Included on signature page).
- 25.1 Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification, under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, of U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4 filed May 21, 2004).
- 99.5 Form of Consent and Letter of Transmittal.

Item 22. Undertaking.

(a) Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and

Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

- (b) The undersigned registrants hereby undertake to respond to requests for information that is incorporated by reference into the prospectus pursuant to Items 4, 10(b), 11, or 13 of this Form, within one business day of receipt of such request, and to send the incorporated documents by first class mail or other equally prompt means. This includes information contained in documents filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement through the date of responding to the request.
- (c) The undersigned registrants hereby undertake to supply by means of a post-effective amendment all information concerning a transaction, and the company being acquired involved therein, that was not the subject of and included in the registration statement when it became effective.
 - (d) The undersigned registrants hereby undertake:
 - (i) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement;
 - (ii) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;
 - To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee" table in the effective registration statement;
 - (iv)

 To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act, the undersigned registrant has duly caused this registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of New York, New York, on December 10, 2004.

iSTAR FINANCIAL INC.

By: /s/ JAY SUGARMAN

Name: Jay Sugarman

Title: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW THAT ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Jay Sugarman and Catherine D. Rice (each with full power to act alone), his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution, in the name and on behalf of the undersigned, to do any and all acts and things and to execute any and all instruments which said attorney and agent, may deem necessary or advisable to enable iStar Financial Inc. (the "Registrant") to comply with the Securities Act of 1933, and with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and any rules, regulations and requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in connection with this Registration Statement and any and all amendments thereto or reports that the Registrant is required to file pursuant to the requirements of federal or state shares laws or any rules and regulations thereunder. The authority granted under this Power of Attorney shall include, but not be limited to, the power and authority to sign the name of the undersigned in the capacity or capacities set forth below to a Registration Statement on Form S-4 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, to any and all amendments (including post-effective amendments) to that Registration Statement in respect of the same, and to any and all instruments filed as a part of or in connection with that Registration Statement; and each of the undersigned hereby ratifies and confirms all that the attorney-in-fact and agent, shall lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirement of the Securities Act of 1933, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Name	Title	Date	
/s/ JAY SUGARMAN	Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive	December 10, 2004	
Jay Sugarman	Officer (principal executive officer)		
/s/ CATHERINE D. RICE	Chief Financial Officer and Director (principal financial and accounting officer)	December 10, 2004	
Catherine D. Rice			
/s/ WILLIS ANDERSEN, JR.	Director	December 10, 2004 December 10, 2004	
Willis Andersen, Jr.			
/s/ ROBERT W. HOLMAN, JR.	■ Director		
Robert W. Holman, Jr.			

/s/ ROBIN JOSEPHS	Director	December 10, 2004	
Robin Josephs	2.100.0	20011001 10, 2001	
/s/ JOHN G. MCDONALD	— D' (D 1 10 2004	
John G. McDonald	Director	December 10, 2004	
/s/ GEORGE R. PUSKAR		December 10, 2004	
George R. Puskar	Director		
/s/ JEFFREY A. WEBER		December 10, 2004	
Jeffrey A. Weber	Director		

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Number	Description		
4.1	iStar Financial Inc. Indenture for 5.70% Senior Notes due 2014 dated as of March 9, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4 filed May 21, 2004).		
4.2	TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. Indenture for 7.70% Notes due 2017 dated July 14, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to the Form 8-K filed July 23, 1997).		
4.3	Amended and Restated Supplemental Indenture No. 2 for TriNet Corporate Realty Trust, Inc. for 7.70% Notes due 2017 dated , 2004.		
5.1	Opinion of Clifford Chance US LLP.		
8.1	Opinion of Clifford Chance US LLP as to tax matters.		
12.1	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to fixed charges and Earnings to fixed charges and preferred stock dividends.		
21.1	List of subsidiaries (Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003).		
23.1	Consent of Clifford Chance US LLP (Contained in Exhibit 5.1).		
23.2	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP with respect to iStar Financial Inc.		
24.1	Power of Attorney (Included on signature page.)		
25.1	Form T-1 Statement of Eligibility and Qualification, under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, of U.S. Bank Trust National Association, as trustee (Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4 filed May 21, 2004).		
99.5	Form of Consent and Letter of Transmittal.		

ANNEX A

FORMULA TO DETERMINE EXCHANGE PRICE FOR TRINET NOTES

YLD	=	[], the exchange yield expressed as a decimal number.
CPN	=	[], the nominal rate of interest payable on the TriNet Notes expressed as a decimal number.
N	=	[], the number of regular semi-annual interest payments from, but excluding, the assumed settlement date of this example to, and including July 15, 2017, the maturity date of the TriNet Notes.
S	=	[], the number of days from July 15, 2004, the most recent semi-annual interest payment date to [], the assumed settlement date of this example. The number of days is computed using the 30/360-day count method.
exp	=	exponentiate. The term to the left of "exp" is raised to the power indicated by the term to the right of "exp."
PRICE	=	the exchange price per \$1,000 principal amount of the TriNet Notes. The exchange price is rounded to the nearest cent.
PRICE	=	1000 X (CPN/2) X [1 (1 + YLD/2) exp (N)]/(YLD/2) X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (S/180)] + 1000 X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (N)] X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (S/180)]

APPLICATION OF FORMULA TO DETERMINE EXCHANGE PRICE FOR THE 7.70% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2017

Coupon	7.70%
Maturity date:	July 15, 2017
Reference U.S. Treasury Security:	U.S. 4.25% due November 15, 2014
Fixed spread:	[bps]
Assumed settlement date:	[]
Example Assumed Reference U.S. Treasury yield as of pricing time Fixed spread: Reference yield: YLD: CPN: N: S: PRICE:	[%] [%] [%] [] 0.07700 [] [] []

ANNEX B

FORMULA TO DETERMINE NEW ISSUE PRICE FOR ISTAR NOTES

Definitions

YLD	=	[], the exchange yield expressed as a decimal number.
CPN	=	[], the nominal rate of interest payable on the iStar Notes expressed as a decimal number.
N	=	[], the number of regular semi-annual interest payments from, but excluding, the assumed settlement date of this example to, and including March 1, 2014, the maturity date of the iStar Notes.
S	=	[], the number of days from September 1, 2004, the most recent semi-annual interest payment date to [], the assumed settlement date of this example. The number of days is computed using the 30/360-day count method.
exp	=	exponentiate. The term to the left of "exp" is raised to the power indicated by the term to the right of "exp."
PRICE	=	the new issue price per \$1,000 principal amount of the iStar Notes. The new issue price is rounded to the nearest cent.
PRICE	=	1000 X (CPN/2) X [1 (1 + YLD/2) exp (N)]/(YLD/2) X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (S/180)] + 1000 X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (N)] X [(1 + YLD/2) exp (S/180)]

APPLICATION OF FORMULA TO DETERMINE NEW ISSUE PRICE FOR THE 5.70% NOTES DUE 2014

Coupon	5.70%
Maturity date:	March 1, 2014
Reference U.S. Treasury Security:	U.S. 4.25% due November 15, 2014
Fixed spread:	[bps]
Assumed settlement date:	[]
Example Assumed Reference U.S. Treasury yield as of pricing time Fixed spread: Reference yield: YLD: CPN: N: S: PRICE:	[%] [%] [%] [] 0.05700 [] []

QuickLinks

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Creative Capital Solutions and the iStar Financial logo are registered trade marks of iStar Financial Inc.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

OUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND CONSENT SOLICITATION

PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

iStar Financial Inc.

Recent Developments

The Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation

Summary Description of the iStar Notes

RISK FACTORS

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

DESCRIPTION OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS

THE EXCHANGE OFFER AND CONSENT SOLICITATION

Hypothetical Exchange Ratio Calculation

DESCRIPTION OF THE ISTAR NOTES

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE TRINET NOTES

COMPARISON OF TRINET NOTES TO ISTAR NOTES

TRINET CORPORATE REALTY TRUST, INC.

BOOK ENTRY, DELIVERY AND FORM

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

LEGAL MATTERS

EXPERTS

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

PART II INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Item 20. Indemnification Of Directors And Officers.

Item 21. Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedules.

Item 22. Undertaking.

SIGNATURES

POWER OF ATTORNEY

EXHIBIT INDEX

ANNEX A

FORMULA TO DETERMINE EXCHANGE PRICE FOR TRINET NOTES

APPLICATION OF FORMULA TO DETERMINE EXCHANGE PRICE FOR THE 7.70% SENIOR NOTES DUE 2017

ANNEX B

FORMULA TO DETERMINE NEW ISSUE PRICE FOR ISTAR NOTES

APPLICATION OF FORMULA TO DETERMINE NEW ISSUE PRICE FOR THE 5.70% NOTES DUE 2014